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INTRODUCTION 

This J:inding has' been prepared in response to the petition 
received by the Assistant secretary - Indian'Affairs from 
the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe seeking federal 
ackno~lledgment as an Indian tribe under Part 83 of Title 25 
of tht~ Code of Ft:!deral Regulations (25 CFR 83) . 

This I':roposed Finding on the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe's 
petition is ~repared under the provisions of 25 CFR 83.10(e) 
of the! revised acknowledgment regulations, which became . 
effectiv,e March 18, 1994. The applicable section of the 
L egula,1:i ,ons provides for case review, prior to active 
considE~r,ation, to ascertain whether "the evidence clearly 
establishes that the group does not meet the mandatory 
criteria in paragraphs (e) ... of section 8j.7 ... " 
Paragraph 83.7(e) pertains to the descent of the petitioner 
from mE!Jnbers of a historical American Indian tribe. 

The revised regulations require that where there is "little 
or no E!'rident:e that the g't'oup can meet the mandatory 
criteria ..• ," the Assistant Secretary shall decline to 
acknowlE!dge that the petitioner is an Indian tribe 
(83.10(m», and publish a proposed finding to that effect in 
the FEiCIEllAL REGISTER. 

The Go.ldem Hill Pauqussett Tribe's petition for Federal 
acknowlE!dgment claims tiThe Golden Hill Pauqussett' tribe has 
existed in the state of Connecticut since time immemorial, 
and hal~ maintained its autonomy and unity as an American' 
Indian t:J:'ibe whil.e interacting with non-::Indian popul.ations 
since 1:nel colonial period" (Golden Hill Petition Historical 
Narrative:, 5). The ancestry claimed was presented by the 
petiti()O.e.r with a list of current. members following the 
narratjlY'e, a volume of pedigree charts, a revised volume of 
pedigrE!B charts, an electronic disk with a computer software 
programl containinq names and documentation of ancestry, a 
residen::::e analysis through periods of time, and ~nother 
memberSlltlip list, incllJdin9' addresses. 

Governnll:lnt researchers found that the claims of the Golden 
HiP·~e!1:i.,t!,?n t~tn"":~n t :\,.,~) c.t:lcestr:r wer~.· no~ valid. T~~ 
joe .lme1ll1:,S r:": not s'-lpport :he claims. . 

The pro,J)llems with the tribal ancestry claimed by the 
petltionell" fall into the following major categories: 

(1) ThEl petitioner's single common ancestor, William 
ShElrman, has not been documented conclusively to have 
InCl:lcln ancestry from the historic Golde:"" Hill. 
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(2) 

" 

Paugussett Tribe or from any other historic Indian 
Tri.be; and 

Even if William Sherman were shown to have Indian 
ancestry from either the historic Golden Hill 
PcllJgussett or from any other historic Indian tribe, the 
prl~sent group would be descended from a single Indian 
individual. It, therefore, would not meet the 
recfuirements of criterion e, which requires ancestry as 
a 1:ribe, not simply Ind:an ancestry. 

A sUbstantial body of documentation was available_on the 
petitioning group and their individual ancestors. This 
extensiVE! evidence does not demonstrate either the Indian 
;- '';.al ,ancestry claimed in the petition or other Indian 
tribal '3nc~estry. 

Applioable ~"qulations 

Part 83 I;!stablishes procedures by which unrecognized Indian 
groups nlay seek Federal acknowledgment of an existing 
government-to-government rela~ionship with the united 
States. To be entitled to such a political relationship 
with the United states, the petitioner must submit 
document2l1:Y evidence that the group meets the seven criteria 
set forth in Section 83.7 of 25 CFR, "Procedures for 
Establis.h.ing That an American Indian G.~ouP Exists as an 
Indian Tribe; Final Rule," as published in the FEDERAL 
REGISTER }~E!bruary 25, 1994. The acknowledgment regulations 
require that all seven mandatory requirements under 83.7'be· 
met· in order for a petitioner to be acknowledged. Section 
83.10 (m) states: 

.The .~ssistant Secretary shall acknowledge the 
exisrt.ence of the petitioner as an Indian tribe 
when it is determined, that the group satisfies all 
ot~ t:lle criteria in 583.7. The Assistant Secretary 
shall decline to acknowledge that a petitioner' is 
an Indian tribe it it fails to satisfy anyone 
ot tlul criteria in S83. 7. (emphases added) . 

This propclsE~d finding on the ';olden Hill PauCTUssett petition 
h~' be~~n prepared under the ."cvisions of 25 CFR;83.10(~~ of 
the revisled acknowledgment regulations, which became 
effective March 28, 1994. The applicable section of the 
regulations, reads: 

83.10(e) Prior to active consideration, the 
Assistant secretary shall.investigate any 
petit::Loner 'whose documented petition and response 
to tbultechnical review letter indioatesthat 
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Introduction - - Golden Hill paugussett Tribe 

there is little or no evidence that establishes 
t:l!1at the qroup can lIleeil the mandatory criteria in 
paragraphs (e), (f) or (q) of section 583.7. 

(1) If this review fillds that the evidence 
clearly establishcu.l that the group does not meet 
t be manda tory c~ '. ~ - '.:l :.... paraqraphs (e), ( f) or 
(g) of section 583.7, a full consideration of the 
dc~cUlllented petition under all seven of the 
mol!Llllc!atory criteria will not be undertaken pursuant 
tc~ I~araqraph Ca) of this section. Rather, the 
ASlllistant Secretary sbal",' instead decline to 
aCI)c10wledge that the petitioner is an Indian tribe 
aClcl publish a proposed finding to that effect in 
ttl,o' FEDERAL REGISTER. The periods for receipt of 
CIQ'Jl1Dlents on the proposed findinq from petitioners, 
i:a.t;llrested partie. and informed parties, for 
c4:)lullideration of comments received, and for 
p1~l:~1.ication of a final determination reqardinq the 
p~lt:i.tioner' s status shall tollow the timetables 
est:ablished in paragraphs (h) through (1) of this 
s.,C'.t.ion. 

(2) If the review cannot clearly demonstrate 
that the qroup does not meet one or lIlore of the 
IIloI!L:Ddatory criteria in paraqraph. Ce) ,et) or (9) 
o~~ section 583.7, a full evaluation of the 
dC~I~UIIlented petition under all seven of the 
JIUiILll1datory oriteria shall be undertaken duriDq 
aC'~i've consideration or the documented petition 
pU:~8'L1&Dt to paraqraph (g) of this section (Federal 
I.!!!ll.ster,· February 25, 1994, 9297). 

The sec:1:il::>n requires evidence, apparent on a preliminary 
review, 'that clearly establishes one of the three named 
criteriu is not met. The section further provides that, 
absent nuc:h evidence, the petition will be revie~ed under 
the reqular process. Several requirements are included to 
ensure 1:Cl:Lrness to the petitioner. First, the limited 
evaluati.()ll occurs only after the petitioner has had the 
0PPQrturLity to respond to th( technical assistance review. 
Sec(nd, cl prc~osed finding ul.ier tbis section will still be 
subject tC) the comment process before a. final determination 
is issuled. . Finally, the petitioner will also have tlJ.e 
opport.u];'Iity to requeE'~ reconsideraticn under S8l.11. 

This prc)polsed finding is subject to the ~ame deadlines a"ld 
~rocedures as ani other l-Jroposed finding. commentors may 
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Introduction - - Golden Hill paugussett Tribe 

comment: on any aspect of the finding or the history and 
charact:,er of the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe. In the event 
that CC)lnments submitted demonstrate that the petitioner 
me-ets t:he requirements of criterion 83.7 (e), the Assistant 
Secretary has the authority under sections 83.10(a) and 
83.10(1) (1) to conduct such add~tional research and request 
from th .• ! petitioner and commt .1ting parties such information 
as is necessary to supplement the record concerning the 
other criteria and evaiuate the petitioner under those 
criteria. 

Pub: icati(:m of the Assistant Secretary's proposed finding in 
the FEDE:R1U, REGISTER initiates a l80-day period for comments 
in response to the proposed finding (83.l0(i)-(k». During 
the response period, factual and/or legal arguments and 
evidence to rebut or support the arguments and evidence 
relied lJPCm may be submitted by the petitioner and any 
in~erested or informed party. Such evidence should be 
submittl~d in writing to the Office of the Assistant 
secretary - Indian Affairs, 1849 C Street, N.W., Washington, 
DC 2024(), Attention: Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, 
Mail stop 26ll-MIB. Third parties must simultaneously 
supply c:opies of their comments to the petitioner in order 
for the comments to be considered by the Department. 

During t:he response period, the Assistant Secretary shall 
provide 't:echnical advice concerning the proposed finding and 
shall malce available to the petitioner in a timely fashion 
any reccl):,ds used for the proposed finding not already held 
by the pt(!·ti tioner, to the extent allowable by Federal law 
( 8 3 • 10 (j;1 (1» • 

In additic:m, the Assistant Secretary shall, if requested by 
the peti t:ic)ner or any interested party, hold a formal 
meeting f()r the purpose of inquiring into the reasoning, 
analyses, ilnd factual bases for the proposed finding. The 
proceedi.rl~Js of this meeting shall be on the record. The 
meeting :t'E~(:ord shall be available to _any participating party 
and becolll.E~ part of the record considered by the Assistant 
Secretary in reachinq'a final determination (83.l0(j)(2». 

If l.ntertaslt:ed or'informed paJ ty! :3ubmissio~s are' .ceceived 
during thel regular response period, the petitioner shall 
have a minimum of 60 days to respond to these submissions. 
This peri,=-.: may be extended at. the Assistant Secretary's 
discretic);r1 if warranted by the nature and extent of the 
comments (83.20(k». 
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Introduction - - Golden Hill paugussett Tribe 

The lBO-day response period applies to the petitioner a~ 
well as interested or informed parties. However, if 
interested or informed party comments are received, the 
petiti.,oner may opt to submit its comments on the proposed 
findill':;r tog~ther with responses to interested or informed 
parties during the petitioner's response period. 

At thE! end of the response periods for comment on a proposed 
findinq, the Assistant secretary shall consider th~ written 
argument.s and evidence submitted during the response period 
and is:t;ue a final determination. The Assistant Secretary 
may cClnduct any necessary additional research and may 
reques.1: ,additional information from the petitioner and 
commen1:ilng parties. The Assistant Secretary shall consult 
with the petitioner and interested parties to determine an 
equitab14a timeframe for preparation of the final 
determination and notify the petitioner and interested 
partiel:; of the date such consideration begins. A summary of 
the firull determination will be published in the FEDERAL 
REGISTEl~ within 60 days from the date on which the 
conside!ration of the written arguments and evidence 
rebuttin9 or supporting the proposed finding begins. This 
determincltion will become effective 90 days from its date of 
public,a,t:ion unless a re,quest for reconsideration is filed 
pursua:n,t: to 83. 11. 

If the Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs declines to 
acknowledge the petitioner, the Assistant secretary will 

'analyz4a and forward to the petitioner other options, if any, 
under which the petitioner might make application for 
servic4as or other benefits. 

Administrative History 

The Gold,en Hill Paugussetts' letter of intent to petition 
for Federal acknowledgment as an Indian' tribe was in the 
form o1~ a letter signed by Aurelius Piper for the tribal 
council dated April 8, 1982. This letter was received by 
the Brcl:rlch of Acknowledgment and Research (hereafter BAR) on 
April ,1.:3,.' ,1982. In acco,r~an .. ~w.\th the regulati ..... ns, noti,..'! . 
was S1;M:' eo the Goverri'or of . Jnr.tlcticut and Atto.cney' General ' 
of COnIlI4!c,ticut on May 24, 1982. The petitioner was assigned 
priorit,~, ;'81. Notice ~as published in the FEDERAL REGISTER 
on June: :2:2, 1982, and in the Trumbull Times newspaper on 
August !;, 1982. 
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Introd'Jction - - Golden Hill paugussett Tribe 

The gr()up submitted historical materials received by BAR on 
October 22, 1986, but the materials were not sufficient to 
be conBidered a documented petition. BAR received the 
group's documented petition on_April 12, 1993. More 
document.cltion arrived on June 18, 1993, July 27, 1993, and 
Augu~t 12, 1993. After a:1 intitial-review of all of the 
materialIs, BAR re:;ponded .... ith an obvious deficiency review 
letter em August 26, 1993. 

The grl::up submitted responses to the obvious deficiency 
review letter. They were received by BAR on April 1, 1994; 
'T~ly 24, 1994; and July 27, 1994, with a request for a 
techni(::al. assistance review of the materials submitted. 
(The' tE~rml "obvious def iciency" had been replaced by 
"technical assistance" review under the regulations 
effective March 1994 (83.10(b) (c).) BAR responded with a 
technic:al assistance review letter on October 19, 1994. 
The grcmp submitted a documented response to the technical 
assistance review, received by BAR on November 15, 1994, 
with a letter requesting to be placed on active 
considE!J::'ation. On November 21, 1994, the petition was 
declare~d"ready" and was placed on the waiting' list for 
active consideration. 

Petitioners are transferred to active consideration status 
on the hi:H;is of the date upon which their petition is 
declared by BAR to be ready for active consideration. At the 
time whEm the Golden Hill petition was placed on the waiting 
list, tbey were assigned #6, and have since moved to 15. 
The peti1:ioner has continued to submit supplementary 
materia If; for the petition. All supple~ents have been 
accepted as part of the working file and included with the 
petition material. 

Throughc)ut: this period, BAR received many letters and cards 
as the re.sult of several letter-writing campaigns in support 
of the pe.tition. The City of Waterbury submitted letters 
and si~\ed petitions in favor of the Golden Hill 'petition. 
Signed p.etitions. in support were also submitted by the 
National Association for the Advancement of Colored people 
(NAACP). BAR also receiv'~ ~~gned petitions in opposition 
to .•• Ei ':;;,::r- ~ ,Jt:' !rill .,.,citi ti 1 .:rom· homeowners of Seymour, 
Connectic::u,t. Connecticut Homeowners Held Hostage (CHHH) 
submitted documented historical and genealogical comments in 
opposition to the Golden Hill pe~ition in April 1994, June 
1994, and December 1994. Many technical assistance meetings 
were held with the Golden aill petitioner's researchers and 
members al1: the washington, D.C. offices of BAR. . 
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Introduc:tion - - Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

ABBREVIATIONS AND/OR ACRONYMS USED IN REPORT 

BAR = Branch of Acknowleo~ent and Research, Bureau of 
Indian Affairs (Evaluator of the Pet~tion) 

CHHH _. Connecticut Homeowners Held Hostage (A group of 
homeowners in opposition to the Golden Hill 
petition) 

Colony:= Connecticut form of government prior to the 
establishment of statehood 

GHPet RE!SP = Golden Hill Petition Response to the obvious 
deficiency review . 

National Association for the Advancement of 
colored People 
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SUMMARY UNDER THE CRITERIA 

Summary Evaluation under criterion 83.7(e) 

EvidenC:E~ submitted by the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe, 
evidence ~ubmitted by Connecticut Homeowners Held Hostage 
(CHHH), clS well as evidence obtained through independent 
research by BIA staff, demonstrate that the petitioner does 
not mel~t; criterion 83.7~e) required for Federal 
ack.lowledlgment. In {. - -···':.nc....: with the regulations set 
forth in 25 CFR 83, failure to meet anyone of the seven 
criteria. requires a. determination that the group does not 
exist as an indian tribe within the meaning of Fede~al law. 

~his proposed finding ~s base~ on ava~lable evidence, and, 
as such, does not preclude the sUbmission of, other evidence 
to the I:ontrary during the l80-day comment period which 
follows publication of this finding. Such new evidence may 
result ~n a change in the conclusions reached in the 
proposE!d finding, resulting in a full review of the Golden 
Hill Pa.Il"1'ussett Tribe's petition under all seven criteria 
prior t.o the final determination. The final determination, 
which will be published separately after the receipt of the 
comments, will be based on any new evidence submitted in 
response to the proposed finding and the original evidence 
used in f()rmulating the proposed finding ~ 

In the sllIlUnary of evidence which follows, according to the 
proceduI'E~f; established under section '83.10 (e) of the 
regulatic)J1s, only criterion 83.7 (e) is considered. A 
summary oj: the evidence relied upon follows the analysis 
under t:n.e criterion. The summary statement is followed by 
the Technlcal Report, which is not a full historical or 
anthropclc)gical analysis, but provides only enough 
historil:al and community background to permit the reader to 
understculd the context of the genealogical discussion under 
criterion 83.l0(e}. 

Requirements 

Criterion 83.7(e) reads: 

The petitione) 's,~embership 
consists of i~lividuals who 
descend from a historical 
Indian tribe or from 
histor .. ~·al Indl.an tril'es which 
combined and functioned as a 
single autonomous political 
e.ltity. 
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Summar~' tInder the criteria -- Golden Hill paugussett Tribe 

The GoldEm Hill Paugussett Tribe's petition for Federal 
acknowlE~clgment claims that "The Golden Hill Paugussett tribe 
has existed in the state of Connecticut since time 
immemo:d.cll, and has ma~ntained its autonomy and unity as an 
Americ,;trl Indian tribe while interacting with non-Indian 
populations since the colonial period" (Golden Hill Petition 
Historical Narrative, 5). Based on an examination of the 
petition, this claIm w&s found to be invalid. Though a once 
powerful Paugussett ~:' axi~tej in the Colony of 
Connecticut, by the time Connecticut became a state within 
the United states, the tribal entity had been dispersed and 
fragmented, with one family remaining on land set aside for 
the tribe. Because of this fact and the lack of 
docUlucrrtation that thl:: pp.titioner's membership descends from 
the onE~ family that rema.ined, this finding on the Golden 
Hill Pclllgussett petition has been prep.ared under the . 
provisions of 25 CFR 83.10(e) (1). Based upon a review of 
all materials submitted from all sources, and especially 
those s:ub:mitted by the petitioner, the following analysis 

. presents the major conclusions. 

In order to meet criterion 83.7(e), the petitioner must 
demonstrate Indian ar:cestry through descent from a 
historic:al tribe, or from tribes which combined and 
functioru~d as a single entity. When documenting descent 
from meD~ers of the historical tribe or tribes, the 
petitioner must show that: 

(1) the pE~rson claimed as an Indian ancestor was of Indian 
descent 1:rom a particular tribe; and ' 

(2) Indhlrl descent must be derived from more than one Indian 
person. }~cestry from.an individual Indian does not ~alify 
as "sinc~l.Et autonomous political entity" as required by 
2 5 CFR 133:. 7 ( e) (1) • 

BASIC CONCLOSIONS 

The evaluation of all materials found that: 

(1' '-. ~h.f! qo).qen Hil: .f-i:titior .,~ f.,r . .;a~~~r irA th; .19th-
.' cell't:~ury, from whom all p ... esent-day membership claim to 

des:c::end, William Sherman, has not been conclusively 
dOC:1l.1D1ented to be a descendant of the historic 
Pau~fu:ssett', Pequanock or any other Indian tribe; nor, 
morn Ispecifically, from the one Indian family that 
remclined in 1769 upon the land set aside for the Golden 
Hill Indians; and 
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Summary Under the criteria -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

(2) one ancestor does not meet the requirements of 25 CFR 
83.7(e). Golden Hill petitioners claim descent from 
only one 19th-century ancestor, William Sherman. 

In addit.ion, the tribal enti:ty of the claimed historic tribe 
pre'sent::;a major problem concerning continuous existence 
becaUSE! : 

(1) 

(2) 

tho c:laimed histol_ -: tr:..be that Wa"; 'living on land set 
aside for the tribe had only one family remaining as 
earl~r as 1765, suggesting that the tribal entity had 
di~;s()l ved; and 

a paugussett/pequanock reservation existed from 1659 
unt.il 1802 in the towns of Fairfield and Stratford, 
ConnE!cticut, but was sold. The present reservation was 
not established until 1933, and has been used by only 
one person or family at any time since its 
esi:albl ishment. 

Methodology 

In the evaluation of genealogical claims of the Golden Hill 
petition, primary source materials utilized were the same 
type as l"10rmally available: Federal census records, vital 
records :from towns in New York and connecticut, burial and 
cemetery- records, and Connecticut state and Colonia·l 
records. Secondary source materials included county, city 
and family histories, and personal records. Personal 
records, !:mch as a family Bible and a diary/acc'ount book 
submitted by the petitioner~ were also considered. 

Each SOUr'(~E~ was examined carefully to identify individuals, 
and to acquire clues to help sUbstantiate the petitioner's 
claims. No specific Indian records created by the Federal 
Government/·s Office of Indian Affairs were found that 
applied tC) the petitioner's family before the 20th century. 
Neither the petitioner's ancestor, William Sherman, nor his 
family, ,~ere ever listed on the special Indian Federal 
census sc:he:dules, nor listed with other Indians on a census 
ide~t}tY:lI1:g'. t~em as ali .. Ij'1dia] gr:up. Vital recc- ~s 'Jave :ciW 

cluEst~~rta1n1ng to the GoldL •. H1ll ancestral fam1ly's claim 
to be Indian. This identity did not appear until 1886, when 
William S:l'lerman was identified as a Golden Hill Indian, and 
then it \',~s referenced ·to a secondary source. 

Connectic:ut state and Colonial records, such as the 
collected and microfilmed "Indian Papers" were valuable 
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Summar~' Under the Criteria -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

resourC:f~ materials on the historic pequanock tribe and 
provided clues to petitioner's descendancy, but recorded 
events only prior to 1850. Overseer reports on connecticut 
Indians. added information, but were very incomplete. 

The city, county, and personal histories that recorded 
incidents and genealogies of the petitioner's claimed 
ancestl:lrSI tended to quote one another, someti:r..as . 
inaccurately. Fewcontaine~ cites for their sources, making 
it dif:Eic:ult to verify information. Those authors who did 
cite thetir sources were seen as more credible by evaluators 
when the source~~aterials were available and verified.' 

The faIllily Bible and diaI'y/account book, both used as 
documentation by the petitioner, while useful, never 
identi1:ied anyone as Indian. In addition, while both were 
attributed to the ancestor, William Sherman, from whom all 
present-day membership descend, events,that transpired years 
after his death were recorded in both books, which caused 
questions of their provenience. The diary/account book had 
many paqes and partial pages cut out, causing many questions 
to aris:t~ in the minds of evaluators concerning its o'erall 
credibility. 

Many surv~eys were completed of bO,th the primary and 
secondary source materials, as well as the personal family 
document::;. Documentation of the soux::ces by BIA researchers 
provided a more complete picture of the petitioner's 
ancestors.. The.finding is based upon all of this 
document:ci1:ion. 

Specific Examples 

Ancesto:L.llot documented as Indian'. William Sherman (1825-' 
1886) W.3S; the ancestor from whom all of the present-day 
Golden Hi.ll membership descend. The first documents clearly 
identif~{i.ng the William Sherman who was the Golden Hill 
petitio11ez:" s ancestor were seaman records that did not 
identif1( bim as "Indian," even 'when the records identified 
other SE!am,en as "Indian". His marriage record did not 

.identify him as "Indian, I and he was not married according 
1:0 Indictn. custom, nor to 'lother Indian. In the 18·, !oJ 

Federal ,::ensus, the childrf!#n listed with him were listed as 
Indian. His designation 06 the census was marked over, 
making E~ven the original document at the National Archives 
illegibl'~. His wife was always listed on documents as 
"black" ()r "negro." Though the children that were listed 
with himl in the 1870 census were identified in birth 
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summary Under the criteria -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

records;., the birth records do not list William Sherman as 
"Indian,," but as "white, ""colored, ""Black," or "Negro," 
depending on the record. 

William. Sherman did not associate with other known 'Indians 
either in or out of the state of Connecticut. He voted and 
owned land in the state of connecticut, when other Indians 
could nClt: without a special nct of the Assembly~ He was not 
J<:nown by' the community as "Lldian" until a county history 
recordE~d.. that William Sherman was "claimant" to the Golden 
Hill funds. No birth record was found to document- his 
parenta'3e, and no document generated by him listed ·familial 
relationships. A city hist-ory published prior to his dea.th 
attempt,ad _ Willia_ Sherma. .. ~enealogy. 'I..lough plagued with 
errors, the genealogy was often quoted for 100 years, 
perpetuiiting the errors. 

BIA res,.~,a:rchers located no conclusive documentation that 
Williaml Sherman had Indian ancestry. 

Descent_froM one ancestor. The Golden Hill Paugussett 
petitioru~l:'s claim that their Indian ancestry derived frem 
William Sherman. A few years prior to William Sherman's 
birth, a list ef known Golden Hill living members was made 
by a committee of the General Assembly ef Connecticut. Only 
hine mellIil:)ElrS were identified. It was the last list of Golden 
Hill "hleirs" made or requested by the... state of Connecticut. 
Little .int:eractien among those nine persons was evidenced in 
their lives. The researchers fremGolden Hill traced as· 
many of the nine as could be documented in the 19th century. 
The result,s illustrated individuals moving throughout the 
state, none in close proximity to. each ether nor to. be 

. assecia1:ing with each other. No descendants ef the nine 
people a:re documented to be in the present membership of the 
petitiolling group. ' 

Descent from one ancestor is insufficient to claim Indian 
tribal aLl'1C,estry for Federal recegniticn pu~peses. There was 
no doculluan'taticn ncr claims made by the Golden Hill 
Paugusse:1:'t peti ticn to any other than one ancestor, William 
Sherman • 

. n additlo'" ";0 ancestry, the 3IA rese~rchers evaluated the 
'Golden Hl11 Paugussett claims to. being a tribal entity 

(descendElci frcm an historic tribe) and to having a 
continuol:ll~ land base. Neither claim was documented to be 
valid. 

/ 
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Tribal_entity. The Paugussett/Pequanock tribe contained an 
estimat:l~d 300-400 persons in 1659 when land was set aside 
for thE!m" but by 1763, only one family remained on this 
land. SEweral non-Indian persons tore down the one wigwam 
left and chased its inhabitants off the land. A petition of 
"re-dres~s to the Colonial Assembly the following ye~r 
initiat.ed a committee to investigate the allegation. The 
176~ r1epc)rt and petition are recorded in the Connect~ cut 
state P~lpers. They clearly ~ ~~ow only one "Pequanock" family 
remainiru;r on the land when the incident had occurred. No 
mentio], \!,ras made of associated individuals or where tl.ey 
might haLve been . 

..... e Conne:cticut "Indian Papers" continued to document that 
the de~~c.endants of that one family sold their land in 1802 
and moved into non-Indian communities. Some "guardian" 
documents exist to show that the proceeds of the land sale 
in l80;! set up funds from which necessities were provided to 
beneficiaries of the fund. The documents concerning the 
fund originated from the probate courts, unlike the county 
supericl:r courts which were depositories for documents 
pertaining to other Connecticut Indian groups. 

Individu,als received a variety of services from the eund set 
up in 1U02, and these services were recorded in state 
records SI?Oradically throughout the first half of the 19th 
century,. Some individuals requested ~their portion of the 
funds bE~ l~ut into individual land for them, and had to 
petition 1:he Connecticut General Assembly for that purpose. 
Other individuals made no claims on the. fund. The fund " 
seemed to have remained in .existence until at least 1876, 
when thel petitioners' common ancestor, William Sherman, 
borrowe,dl IIlloney from it to build a house. He signed a. 
promiss1c1ry note that included payment of interest on the 
loan. Only individuals, not groups, petitioned for use of 
·the mOnl9}r from time to "time for necessities. only a few of 
those whc. would be considered "heirs" claimed rights to it. 
The fund liiras not used to meet the needs of a tribe, only 
individua,l.s who requested money for their indivi<:lual use. 

There WEu'e. other descendants of the original pauqussett/ 
Pequanoc:k. tribe who lived in Connecticut. Both Golden Hill 
al'~. ~J;~ researcher:3 h~/e· j.~~'. :.~fied many inc" v:;duals who 
we.c~ d'es.cendec! from ttie or1g4aal Shoran family, who were the 
original heirs to the .Pauguss"ett/Pequanock tribe. (Eunice 
Shoran Juar.ried Tom Sherman, Sr.) They have either 
assimi..l.a.1::ed into non-Indian society, or assimilated into 
other tI'ibes. Thus, even if William Sherman had been 
document.E~d to be a descendant of the Ruby Mansfield or Nancy 
Sharpe, al.ias Pease, this would not document that the 
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petitioner has tribal ancestry from the original 
Paugussett/Pequanock tribe under 25 CFR 83.7{e). 

criterion e is one of the criteria which are intended to 
insure c:a,ntinuous existence as a tribal body. Descent from 
a· single. Indian ancestor does not meet this requirement. No 
record exists that the historic Paugussett/Pequanock tribe 
maintained tribal relations after 1764. 

Sporadj~~ land base. From 1659 until 1765, the plantations 
that wC,1lld b~come the cities of Fairfield and Stratford set 
aside li:md for the Paugussett/Pequanock tribe. When. . 
citizenl30f those towns pulled down the wigwam and dispersed 
its ";'nhabitants in o~ about ~763, the one family that was 
left waf; awarded two parcels' of land. By 1797, only the 
"heirs" remained, and they were living on only one portion 
of the lialnd. The land was in an enviable location for 
developIltent. By 1802, the five remaining adult "heirs" 
petitiollted the General Assembly to sell the land so they 
might livle off the interest from the money. This was 
enacted, . and sporadic documentation of disbursements to 
individuals was recorded within the probate courts of 
Fairfield County. No state reservation land existed after 
1802. 

In 1841, two women, Ruby Mansfield and Nancy Sharpe, alias 
Pease, petitioned the General Assembly for land upon which 
to live and raise their families, to.be purchased from that 
fund. 'Ihis was done, but the land was sold again in 1851. 
In 1876, William Sherman, the ancestor of the petitioner, 
borrowed nloney from the fund resulting from the 1802 sale of 
the land, as well as from the proceeds of the the sale of 
the Mam;f'ield/Sharpe home in 1851. . William Sherman 
borrowed money, using a promissory note that included 
payment of interest, to build a home on his land that he had 
purChaSE!':!. as an individual. Notes of persons not identified 
as Indicl:ns were also documented in the records of the fund. 
In 1886, after being identified by a very popular county 
history ilS an "heir" to the Golden Hill Indian fund, William 
Sherman '~ra&.sferred, by quit claim dQed for a one- dollar 
renumeraI1:i,on, his land and its buildings to the man who 
later be:c:::ame the overseer of the Golden Hill fund. 

-(.'~ ~ ... . . ,... . t: ," 

W~.. fail :~hterl":ln diea in 1886 . Jne family, or sometimes one 
person, rtelnained on the land hence. In 1933, a descendant 
of Willimn Sherman petitioned the Superior Court of 
Fairfield County to have the William Sherman land taken into 
trust by· the state of· Connecticut as an Indian Reservation. 
Thus, thE~re was no reservation or land base from 1802 until 
1841, and trom 1849 until 1933. 
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Though F'ederal acknowledgment does not require a land base 
for thE~ petitioners as part of the Federal Acknowledgment 
Process (FAP), the history of this particular piece of 
property shows that it was associated with a single family 
line, a~d not used by all of William Sherman's descendants. 

Cone Ius :.ons 

The Golden Hill Paugussett petitioner has not conclusively 
documented Indian ancestry from the Paugussett, Pequanock or 
any other Indian tribe. In addition, even if Indian 
anceetry had been documented, the petitioner's claimed 
ancestry from a single individual does not meet the 
mandatory criteria. The once numerous Paugussett/Pequanock 
tribe had only one family on the land set aside for it in 
1765, and no other tribal entity is associated with them 
after that date. " 

Prior to acti~e consideration, Federal law requires the 
Assistant Secretary to investigate any petitioner whose 
documented petition and response to the technical assistance 
review letter indicates that there is little or no evidence 
that est:ablishes that the group can meet the mandatory 
criteria in paragraphs (e), (f) or (~) of criterion 83.7 (25 
CFR 83.10(e». Federal law also requires that the 
"AssistC!l:I'lt secretary shall decline to acknowledge that a 
petitioner is an Indian tribe if it fails to satisfy anyone 
of the criteria in S83.7" (25 CFR83.10 (m». 

The avai.lable documentation concerning this group was 
extensivel, and it failed to verify Indian ancestry. The 
documentCl"tion did show" that the petitioners descend from a 
single individual who has not been conclusively documented 
to have Indian ancestry. We conclude from this 
documentcLtion that the Golden Hill Paugussett petitioner 
clearly do~~s not meet the "requirements of criterion 83.7 (e) . 

" ~" . . 
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TECHNICAL REPORT 

GOLDEN HILL PAUGUSBETT TRIBE 

INTRODUCTION 

The FedHral acknowledgment process (hereafter cited as PAP) 
was established in 1978 to acknowledge those Indian tribes 
which pc)!;sess a government-to-government relationship with 
the unit:«~d states The regulations, found in 25 CFR Part 83', 
require 1:hat petitioning groups wishing acknowledgment of 
this gov«~rnment-to-government relationship meet seven 
mandatory criteria. One of those criteria is found in 
section 83.7(e): 

83.7(e} The petitioner's membership 
consists of individuals who descend 
from a historical Indian tribe or 
from historical Indian tribes which 
combined and functioned as a single 
autonomous political entity. 

criterion "e" calls for descent from a historic tribe (or 
tribes which combined into a single political unit). This 
criterion is one of the criteria that together establish 
that a pe~t,itioner has continually existed as a tribe. The 
criterion requires descent of the petitioner from a historic 
tribal qroup(s), not simply "Indian" ancestry. 

Descent from a single person, even if that individual was a 
member of a tribe, does not meet the requirements of 
criterion 83.7 (e). Descent from a single member generally 
means that the ancestor, or tbat ~ncestor's descendants, 
separatE!d from the tribe. Thus, there is no continuity 
between -the tribe of origin and those individual 
descendants. 

The pres«~:nt petitioner rej ects the requirement of descent 
from a cc>:n'tinuous tribal group. The Golden Hill Paugussett 
Response -b:> the Branch of Acknowledgment and Research 
(hereaftE~r cited as BAR) obvious deficiencY' review claims 
that "as long as one inch of Paugussett land exists, as long 
as one Pau(;JUssett heart beats, the Golden Hill Paugussett 
tribe livf~s on" (Golden Hill,. Petition Response (hereafter 
cited as GHPet Response), Historical Narrative, Appendix II, 
1994, 2). The Response goes on to state: 

Since its first contact with Europeans, 
sev,ent:eenth century to tl1is day, the ~olden Hill 
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Technica~ Report - - Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

Paugussett Tribe has been continuously identified 
as "American Indian" or "Aboriginal" •.• There has 
nE~ver been a time when the Golden Hill Paugussett 
Tribe has not existed in what later became known 
as: 1:he state of Connecticut" (GHPet Response, 
Historical Narrative, Appendix II, 1994, 3). 

However, the definition of a tribe pres.ented in the above 
passag,e is not the definition of a tribe used for FAP 
purpos1es under 25 CFR Part 83. Available documents show 
that thE~re was a Paugussett Indian tribe from the state of 
Connec1ticut in the seventeenth century until 1765. However, 
the Goldle~n Hill petition documentation has failed to provide 
evidence to substantiate its claims that the Paugussett 
tribe continued to exist after the year 1765. 

FAP is not intended to recognize individuals or even 
extendE~d families of Indian descent, without ongoing tribal 
entity. The Golden Hill group has twice been reduced to one 
family, and there is little evidence to indicate that the 
second, later, single family grouping descends from the mid-
18th century family. 

The individuals listed on the membership rolls submitted to 
BAR havf~ not been proven to descend from the historic 
PaugussHtt Indian Tribe or any other Indian tribe that has 
continuHd to exist from the period of first contact with 
non- Ind :L.an settlers. 

The areclS in which the petition has failed to provide 
conclusive evidence include: • 

(1) De§~~mt 
ThE~ present-day membership descends from one family, 
th,at: of Wiiliam Sherman and his wife, Nancy (Hopkins). 
Ne.it:her William nor Nancy Sherman has been pr'oven to 
de:;cemd from the historic Paugussett Indian Tribe. 

(2) COlltinuity 
(a)" 'J'ribal relations require °a functioning political 
en1:i ty in which there exists communication, leaders and 
f.0JLlowers. There are major periods of time (1803 to 
1865; 1885 to 1933; and 1940 to 1974) in which no such 
ent:i ty has been shown to exist for the 'Golden Hill 
petitioners and their ancestors. As a result, the 
Golden Hill heirs were not a tribe. 
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Technical' Report - - Golden l{ill pciugussett Tribe 

(b) The land base provided by the state of Connecticut 
for the Golden Hill Paugussett/Pequanock tribe was sold 
in 1802. No other tribal land base had been 
established until the Colchester reservation was 
es·tablished only a few years ago. Two individuals 
pE~·titioned and received individual property until 1853 
wf.lI:m it was sold. In 1933, the present-day 1/4 acre 
wau:; declared Connecticut Indian trust land, and one 
family lived upon it. However, Connecticut did not 
necessarily consider them a tribe after 1765, nor was 
the land considered a state reservation until at least 
1933. 

The dispersed heirs of Golden Hill money derived from the 
1802 sal,e of land, had no land base during the 19th century. 

BAR has prepared this technical report based on the absence 
of posi1:ive evidence and the negative evidence presented 
concern~ng the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe petition under 
provisions of 25 CFR 83.10 (e).1 

Applicable section of the regulations. 

Section 83.10(e) 
(e) Prior to active consideration, the Assistant Secretary 

shall investigate any petitioner whose documented petition and 
ren:pollse to the technical assistance review letter indicates that 
thEH'e is little or no evidence that establishes that the group can 
me£!'t the mandatory criteria in paragraphs (e), (f) or (g) of 
Sec~ion 83.7. • 

(1) If the review finds that the evidence clearly 
esLllblLishes that the group does not meet the mandatory criteria in 
paril9raphs (e), (f), or (g) of Section 83.7, a full consideration 
of 1:ltlE! documented petition under all seven of the mandatory 
cri.1:Ial~ia will not be undertaken pursuant to paragraph (a) of this 
secl:1cm. Rather, the Assistant Secretary shall instead decline to 
ackno\Olledge that the petitioner is an Indian tribe and publish a 
prC'l)()Eled finding to that effect in the Federal Register. The 
ped.()Cis for receipt of the comments on the proposed finding from 
pet l.1:i.oners, interested part ies and informed part ies, for 
con£lidleration of comments received, and for publication of a final 
detE!J:mination regarding the petitioner's status shall follow the, 
timE~ta.bles established in paragraphs (h) through (l) of this 
sect.l.c'n. ' 

(2) If the review cannot clearly demonstrate that the group 
doee: not meet one or more of the mandatory criteria in paragraphs 
(e), (f) or (g) of 83.7, a full evaluation of the documented 
t>eti.t:ion under all seven of the mandatory criteria shall be 
undertaken during active consideration of the documented petition 
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TECHNICAL REPORT 

DESCRIP'l~ION OF RESEARCH 

The St'it:e! of Connecticut has an abundance of recorded 
dealinqs: with its inhabitants, both Indian and non-Indian. 
At least. three groups of researchers have scoured the 
reposi1:ories for records concerning members of the Golden 
Hill group. First, the Golden Hill petitioners have 
submitte:d the petition, a "Response to the Obvious 
DeficiEmcy Letter I" a response to a Technical Review 
letter2 , a.nd several addenda to the petition.. They have 
been extremely cooperative with BAR researchers in trying to 
locate ,specific documents. Second, the group called 
Connect:icut Homeowners Held Hostage (hereafter cited as 
CHHH), ,,,,ho oppose Golden Hill recognition, have submitted 
"Points of Contention to the Petition by the Golden Hill 
Paugussl~tt Indians for Federal Tribal Acknowledgment." CHHH 
also submitted a genealogical supplement. Then, in response 
to the Golden Hill responses, CHRR submitted another 
"Supplement B" and "Genealogical Supplement B." Lastly, a 
BAR resH.archer searched various Connecticut towns' records 
and the Connecticut state Archives. 

In addit:,ion to the many vital records researched from 
Connecticut towns' archives and the U. S. Census returns, 
several other records were extensively used to evaluate the 
petitioner's claims: 

. 
(1) ][ndian Papers, microfilmed by the Connecticut state 

Archives 
(2) Connecticut Guardian and Overseer Reports 

puriluaLnt to paragraph (g) of this section. 

lIn February of 1994, revised regulations for the FAP were 
adopted. tinder the original regulations, reviews of the petition 
materials ~Iere called obvious deficiency letters, for the reports were 
sent by maj.l to the petitioners. According to the revised regulations, 
these repe,z'ts were hereafter labeled technical assistance reviews. 
Golden Hill submitted the first response to the ~obvious deficiency 
letter. .. Ely the time further submissions were made by them, the 
technical a.ssistance review language was in place, and thus, when they 
received a second "obvious deficiency letter" at their request, it was 
called a "technical assistance review." 
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(3) History of the Indians of Connecticut by John W. 
DeForest (1851) 

(4) History of Fairfield County, Connecticut by D. 
Hamilton Hurd (1881) 

(51 The History of the Old Town of Derby, Connecticut 
by Samuel Orcutt and Dr. -Ambrose Beardsley, M.D. 
(1880) 

(6) ,7\ History of the Old Town of Stratford and the City 
of Bridgeport, Connecticut by Rev. Samuel Orcutt 
(1886 ) 

(6) 'rhe diary/account book of William Sherman submitted 
by the petitioner 

Extensive research has been conducted. The researchers. 
located numerous documents. All materials from all sources 
were uSE~d by BAR researchers, who compiled the available 
informat:ion about the petitioner's claims, and analyzed 
their CCLSE~. 

CONNECTICUT 

An expla.Ilation of Connecticut Indian Policy is helpful in 
underst,ancling the total picture of the Golden Hill 
petitio~ers and their problems of familial descendancy. In 
the sevlent:eenth century, Connecticut accepted the common -law 
legal p:rE~Dlise that . land ownership was a right of all free, 
adult, lDale, British-born settlers in a British colony. 
Neither indentured servants nor aliens had this right to 
ownership. Limits concerning lan~ ownership were also 
placed OTt minors and married women. The English settlers' 
desire fClr land created problems for the aboriginals. 

The his1:c.ric Paugussetts, as well as the other Connecticut 
Indians" found themselves subjugated to the colonial 
governmEmt. Treaty after treaty, followed by land 
transact:ions, signed by leaders of the Indian communities, 
show thE~ dispersal of people and disbursement of lands. The 
first pE!'ti tion to the General Assembly of Connecticut by 
Indian q~oups was recorded in 1647. These treaties, 
documents and petitions are available on micrOfilm from the 
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Connect:icut state Archives, labeled "Indians," and are 
referencE~d as "Indian Papers" (hereafter cited as IP) 3. 

The Indictn Papers illustrate the legal acts that resulted 
from p'2t:itions to the General Assembly, as well as the 
report!:; of persons appointed by the state to watch over the 
legal ,Hld financial affairs of Connecticut Indians. The 
Indian Pa.pers also include Connecticut .Indian policy during 
the 181:h and 19th centuries, allowing researchers to view 
the state's relationship to the Paugussetts and other 
Connecticut Indians. 

Althouc;f:t the following discussion concerns only the claimed 
ancest~t of the Golden Hill petitioner, a similar picture 
could bl~ drawn for all Connecticut Indians prior to 1800. 
Several tribes petitioned the General Assembly for redress 
of grie!vances, and requested honorable persons to manage 
their affairs. The Indian Papers' documentation during the 
seventeEmth century contained many grievances by Indians 
concern:'m9 land rights or boundary disputes. In addition, 
many documents of the Indian Papers concerned plots, 
uprisin~s of the Indians, succession to deceased Indian 
leaders, <md general I!1dian happenings. By the 18th 
century, 1:he Indian Papers showed more specific details, 
gave popuJLation statistics, and at times, even named 
individ~als or created census lists. 

As early i:lS 1714, the Colonial Assembly passed laws 
protectingr Indian lands from encroachment. At the same time 
complaints increased in the 'records concerning the 
encroachments taking place. committees were formed by 
colonial o,fficials to investigate claims by the Indians, and 
the right.s of the Indians were more clearly defined (IP 
Vol.I, 00-84). As early as 1722, persons were appointed to 

3The, Indian Papers consisting of two volumes, were bound and 
repaired in 1942. They contain legislative papers in several series. 
The origin!l papers are found in the Forbes Library in the "Judd 
Collection" in Northampton, Massachusetts. Volume I has two parts so 
that referl:!rlce is made Vol. I, 2nd, meaning that the item referenced can 
be located in the second part of volume 1. There are document numbers, 
with pageel ,,,ithin the document listed as a,b,c, etc. (For example, a 
reference n'lc\e to a specific phrase within document 4 on page 4b in the 
first part of volume I would be referenced as IP, Vol I, 4b). The 
volumes arE! indexed, and Volume I contains the original table of 
contents melde, in 1845. 
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"take care of" some groups of Indians (IP Vol. I, 102-3) 4. 

Both thE~ colony and the Indian petitioners often mentioned 
education and Christianization in the records. 

In 1744 r meetings began between Colonial Governor Clinton 
and the Indians. From the interactions of the two evolved 
what thE~ Connecticut Indian Papers call a "Treaty" (IP Table 
of ContEmts, 265). The groups of Indians in Connecticut 
Colony ~T'~re viewed as distinct groups and named. sometimes 
tribes ~Tere called by the places they inhabited, while other 
times a place took the tribe's name. For instance, in 1744, 
the Indians living near Milford were called "Milford 
Indians," although they were also recorded as "Potatuck 
Indians." Another group on the borders of Woodbury were 
also callE:!d "Potatuck Indians" (IP Vol. I, 241). Thetreaty 
between Colonial Governor Clinton and the Indians in 1745 
was a defining point in history. It began an era of peace 
with th,e Indians for the Colony, while the Indians lost or 
sold the land in favor of subjugation and reservation 
living. The Indian Papers record these events, and the 
second fart of the Indian Papers begin with the year 1746. 

By the lDid-18th century, the grouping of the Indians by name 
or placI= name showed the land divisions, geographically 
placing connecticut Indians in specific groups. In the 
early 1800's, the "Golden Hill Indians,".as designated in 
documen1:s., began to be treated differently by the state from 
other C(:>rmecticut Indian entities. Wording in the 
documen1:s:, courts in which they petitioned, and the 
existence~ of a land base differed· for the Golden Hill group 
when compa.red with other Indian entities that would survive 
into thE! 20th century. The differences will be discussed 
later in the report. 

HISTORIC:.~L FACTS 

DOCUMEN'1'ATION TO 1802 

The documents show that the General Court at Stratford made 
an agree!lnent with the Indians living in stratford and 
Fairfield Plantations in 1658-59: 

4In il petition from the Pequot tribe in Groton, "That whereas caplD 
James Avery & cap- John Morgan was formerly appointed overseers to take 
care of us:" (dated 10 May 1722) 
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tha,t. those two Plantations aforementioned were 
ingaged [sic] to aford [sic] and alow (sic] unto 
their Respective Indians pertaining to each Town 
sUfficient Land to plant on for their subsistence" 
(IP Vol. II, 147a). 

The court added that each Plantation should exercise care to 
uphold that agreement so peace could be retained. The 
Indians would be allowed to "improve their ancient fishing 
Place \olhich they desire" (IP Vol. II, 147a). According to 
the General Court, the Indian boundaries would be enlarged 
becausE~ the Indian population was numerous. 

Because~ of failure of the plantations (which had then become 
the cities of Fairfield and stratford) in 1660, the General 
Assembl.:{ records show that towns of Fairfield and Stratford 
had neglected to do: 

a~~thing pursuant to the aforesaid Acts of 
Assembly ... according to the Directions and 
Appointment '" about the Difference between 
Stratford, Fairfield, and the Indians - about 
peql..lc:inock (IP Vol. II, 147a). 

The GenE~Jrc:ll Assembly directed Fairfield to pay stratford 
"for thE~ 80 Acres of Land that the Indians do possess at . 
Pequanoc:Je" (IP Vol. II, 147b). This was done, with an 
explanation: 

the! ][ndians who at that Time -were in actual 
pos,sE~ssion thereof (being the same Indians which 
the! General Court had as aforesaid Judged to 
belong to Fairfield) continued ever after they and 
thleir Heirs peaceably to hold, use, and improve 
thl9 E:O Acres of Land as they saw proper without 
any Disturbance from any persons whatever (IP Vol. 
II, l47b). 

For 100 ye!ars, peace continued. Our ing the 18 th century, 
the tribe dispersed. Most moved and assimilated with other 
tribes such as the Oneida in New York, while others joined 
with other groups and formed new confederations, such as 
those in Litchfield County, Connecticut (Wojciechowski 1992, 
79-80). About 1762, eight persons from Stratford and four 
from Fajxfield had "without Law or Right gotten into the 
Possession of all the 80 Acres of Land (except about 6 
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a~res)" (IP Vol. II, 147b) upon which Tom Sherman, his wife, 
Eunice Shoran and Sarah Shoran lived. They: 

(1) a1:ely dwelt at the Northeasterly Corner of the 
sai.d 80 Acres of Land and most unjustly and 
unlcHvfully ejected and put the said Tom Sarah and 
Eunice out of the possession tbereof and then do 
yet hold out altho (sic] the said Eunice and Sarah 
are the surviving Heirs of the aforesaid Indians 
to \!Thom said Lands were laid out in Manner 
aforesaid in May AD 1660 (IP Vol. II, 147b). 

One of thE~ men pulled down the wigwam where Tom, Eunice and 
Sarah lived and drove them from their ancient inheritance. 
The 6 acrE~S of land were on the Pequanock River (IP Vol. II, 
147c) . 

In 1763, Tom Sherman, his wife Eunice Shoran, and Sarati 
Shoran responded by petitioning1the court to regain their 
land. A c:ommittee was formed by the Colonial Assembly to 
look into the allegations of the Indians (IP Vol. II, 147d). 
The petition requested a person acceptable to the court: 

to be in Nature of a Guardian over Us and our said 
Lands and to transact for us all things that shall 
be beneficiary with Respect to the Recovery of our 
said. Lands and the future management and 
Improvement of the same and that he may be 
aCGo,untable therefore in some proper Manner and 
thel t such Guardian may· be enabled to have and 
reG~ver his necessary Expens~s about us & our 
Aff,airs in the same Manner that Debts by Law are 
Recoverable of the English Inhabitants of this 
Col,:>ny (IP Vol. II, 147c). 

Thomas Hill, Esq. was appointed .iwith full power and 
authorit::{to do and transact all things relating to said 
,Indians and the conduct and future management of their 
affairs" (connecticut Public Record (hereafter cited as 
CPR), 12:212-13). The stated rationale was to protect the 
Indians. ,~s a result of the petition signed by Tom Sherman, 
Eunice Sherman and Sarah Shoran, in October of 1765, the 
family \Y'a:s given a place called Golden Hill' (or the Nimrod 
Lot) containing about 12 acres of land with a spring, and 
about ei~lt acres of woodland at Rocky Hill (CPR, 12:433) 
-upon which to live. 
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In the defense documents concerning the men from stratford 
and Fairfield who were ordered by the General Assembly to 
pay mor~y to the Pequanock descendants, in 1764, the 
defendants offered the explanation that: 

Wle saw only two persons viz Eunice Shoran and Sary 
Sl10ran that were said to be Descendants from the 
P4:quanock indians they both had Children (IP 
V()l. II, 149d). 

In 1768, Daniel Morris was appointed overseer or "guardian" 
over the: Persons and Estates of Tom Sherman and others the 
Golden Hill Indians so called" (IP Vol. II, 154). Tom 
Sherman and unice [sic] Sherman signed the "guardian" 
appoint:ment. The documents containe.d no mention at that 
time of Sarah Shoran, 5 nor was she mentioned in the reports 
of accounts submitted by Daniel Morris. From 1770 until 
1775 nc) Sarah was mentioned (see Overseer reports in GHPet 
Responsl: Appendix V, 8-1 through 8-45). In 1775, the 
OverseE~:r report mentions a Sara Panheg, who received 4 lb. 

SH':rhle Shoran Family: More properly called the Montaugk/Shoran 
family, 'the history of this family can be traced back to May 25, 1671, 
when one of the Pequannock signatories to a deed at Stratford was Shoran 
(Wojciechowski 1992, 171-2). The family next surfaced in the form of 
sachem Mont.augk who became tribal leader in 1724 and, according to Ezra 
Stiles, led the Gold[en] Hill Indians until his death in 1735 (Dexter 
1916, p.133). Montaugk was succeeded by his brother, John who led the 
tr ibe un1: il his death in October, 1761 (Dexter, loc. cit.).. (Golden Hill 
Additionul Submission, November, 1994, The First Families of Golden 
Hill, 8) .. 

In L793, the descendants of ~Sarah Wampey alias Sarah Montaugh 
Late of Il,lid Oneida Dece" ••• (who) was One of the Tribe of Natives 
resident .l·t a place called Golden Hill in the Town of Stratford [stated) 
that NOnE! I:>J: the Ancient Tribe of Indians formerly resident :at that 
place arEt ll:'Euuaining on the Lands there and that the same i8";& Valuable 
Estate wl'u.(:h together with the Rents due thereon ought to be 
Appropr ia.t:c~d to the Use of the proper Owners thereof" (IP Vol. II, 153). 
Sarah had tQc,ved to Oneida. New York. Eunice Mee80ck testified for Sarah 
Wampey's dEulcendants. that she wa.s ~ell acquainted with "Sarah Wampey 
Late of FcLJ:'mington an Indian Squaw Now decd 

••• the said Sarah and A 
number of her other Relations were often at Farmington and a Man by the 
Name of Wcilnpecon ••• Sarah called him 'Unkle ••• " (IP Vol. II, 154). 
Eunice MeeElock also testified for the General Assembly in 1793, that she 
was once in Kent with Sarah. They saw some Pequanock Indian men and 
women who were very fond of Sarah "and said they were her Relatives ••. 
(Eunice Mlee'sock] says she frequently saw an Indian Woman that Came from 
Pequanock by the Name of Sucsqhoounschsqua that was Sarahs Mother •• 
Sarah Wampey had two sisters that lived at Farmington One by the Name of 
Hannah ... ft (IP Vol. II, 154)~ 
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flower [sic] (GHPet Response Appendix V, 8-46), but no 
explanation was offered as to who this Sara was. Sara 
Panheg has no known descendants in the modern-day community 
of Goldl:!n Hill. 

On the j,we of the Revolution, in 17.14. there was only one 
family left at Golden Hill: 

TOlD &: Eunice his wife whQ are the Heads of all the 
faIne~ly [sic] that Now Lives on the Land ... there has 
been know [si6] Pains in Scihooling any of there [sic] 
Children tho [sic) they have a Considerable famely 
(sic) (IP Vol. II, 156). (emphasis added) 

According to a 1780 petition by Aaron Hawley to the 
Connecticut General Assembly, Daniel Morris, the "guardian" 
appointed by the G~neral Assembly, had imprisoned Tom and 
Eunice, 'Nhipped their daughter and used their land. The 
General Assembly found that the Indians "have been severely 
used" and: 

Gua::-dian's Accounts have been exhibited to the 
Judqe of Probate and allowed: that we have mostly 
over charged; and that the Credits for the use of 
thed.r Lands fall much short of their real Value: 
Tha1: upon examination and Liquidating the whole of ' 
said Accounts, we are of the Opinion that for a 
full settlement of all affairs of said Indeans 
[sic], said Guardian [Daniel Morris] ought to pay 
to f;a.i.d Indians the Sum of tqirty six pounds 
fifteen (IP Vol. II, 160). 

By the end of the Revolution, in 1782, Aaron Hawley of 
Stat ford ,~ho had previously petitioned in their defense, 
became "quc:I.rdian" over what was called the "remainder" of a 
tr ibe .f.[E~ had the same duties and powers as the previous 
guareian5: .. 

In 1797, t:he town of Stratford petitioned the General 
Assembly t:o dispose of the land. That petition reiterated 
facts about: the Golden Hill history, including the wording 
of the original land agreement which had said: 

in case those Indians should at any time Wholly 
relinquish and desert Golden Hill that their s 
eighty acres of land should remain And be the 
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property of the Inhabitants of Sd Stratford, -­
Ar.:Ci in process of time the Sd Indians had all 
rlelinquished and deserted Sd eighty acres of land 
at Golden hill except Tom Sherman, Eunice Shoran & 
Sarah Shoran, who brot (sic] their petition to the 
G~;mE!ral assembly held at New Haven in october 1763 
•.• the Sd Indians would and should relinquish all 
clad.m to Sd eighty acres of land on Golden Hill, 
exc€!pt about twelve acres of land part of Sd 

eigrh.ty acres called Nimrod lot with the Spring at 
the! point of Golden Hill ••• And that also the sd 
Petitioners should purchase for the use and 
improvement of Sd Indian Petitioners eight acres 
of wood land in Sd stratford at Rocky Hill (IP 
Vol. I, 2nd, 139b). 

The Stratford petition went on to say that: 

Sd Sarah and Eunice are dead and have left a few 
of their posterity but that neither they or the Sd 

TClln have used or occupied or improved the Sd 

tWI~lve acres called Nimrod lot nor the Sd spring, 
for some years past & have not pretended to live 
01"). ,or near the same nor for many years have they 
had 'thereon any kind of house, hut or wigwam, but 
havle lived and resided on and near Sd eight acres 
of lfJc:>od land so purchased for their use ••• Rocky 
hill in Sd stratford about three miles distant 
from Sd Nimrod lot (IP Vol. I, 2nd, 139c). 

Tom was vE~ry old: 

wel.l stricken in years and unable to do anything 
fo.[· his support and he and the surviving posterity 
of fill Sarah and Eunice have become expensive and 
buxdEmsome to your petitioners [Town of Stratford] 
aria likely to be more and more so (IP Vol. I I 2nd, 
139C:). 

In Noveciber of 1801, Aaron Hawley petitioned to be released 
of his IIguardianship". He had: 

acted as guardian to the re11lainderof a tribe of 
Indians residing in said Stratford, commonly 
called, "Golden Hill Indians"-- That he has 
exercised the duty aforesaid; for about seventeen 
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years, last past- (IP, Vol. I, 2nd, 148). 
(emphasis added) 

At that 1:ime an examination of the accounts of Hawley's 
tenure c()ncluded that: 

aft.E~r having examined said Accounts we adjusted 
th'E: same and find due from said Hawley to said 
Indians the sum of Six shillings and six pence 
Lawful Money--and we also find that on the 14th of 
instant [AJpril said Hawley paid Daniel Smith 
Sevem dollars for expenses accrued in the last 
sickness & of funeral Charges of old Tom one of 
th4: t:ribe of said Indians - which we did not allow 
as cl eredi t to Said Hawley ... said Tom died 
sOJnE~t:ime in the Month of last November which was 
af1tE~r the acceptance of the resignation of Sci 

Ha'111e!y -- We also find that there are now 
relnali.ning of said tribe about twenty persons old 
and young - who have no fixed residence - but are 
generally travelling from place to place. We also 
find there are two pieces of Land now belonging to 
said tribe - one of which lies about half a mile 
north of the principal Settlement of and within 
the limits of said Borough •.. contains about Ten 
Acre:s ... We also find that the other piece of 
land belonging to said tribe ••• lies about three 
miles & an half north of said Borough- in quantity 
ab()ut Eight Acres and an half ... (IP Vol. II, 1). 

The records of Indian transactions with 'the state and Colony 
of eonnE~(=ticut as recorded in the Indian Papers show the 
population of the historic Pequanock/Paugussett Tribe had 
dwindled to a very few persons. Eunice and Sarah Shoran 
were desit:;:ended from the historic Pequanock/Paugussett Tribe, 
but by t:he turn of the 19th century, both were dead. The 
land tha.1: had begun as eighty acres was in two parcels, one 
of eight .. acres and the other of twelve. One family 
remained., living only on the eight acre lot. The town of 
Stratford, which had been given the responsibilit'y of caring 
for them.,. 1was apprehensive that they would become a burden. 
The land the Indians were inhabiting looked advantageous to 
the building up of Statford: 

Sd Nimrod lot lies adjoining a navigable arm of 
the SE~a or Saltwater river commonly called 
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Poquonock [sic] river at the village of Newfield 
and contains several very eligent [sic] and 
convenient building lots, and is advantageously 
(sic] situated for several ship:yards [sic] and 
wc,uld now sell to good advantage but under its 
prE~sent circumstances it is a great hindrance to 
t]hE~ growth and population of that flourishing 
Village (IP Vol. I, 2nd, 139d). 

DOCUMEN'l'}l,TION FROM 1802 THROUGH 1854 

In lat4:! 1.801, Josiah Lacy of Statford was appointed as 
"GuardiaJ11 of the remainder of a tribe" (CPR Vol X, 374) 
(emphasis added). One year later, in October 1802, "Thomas 
Sherman I Eunice Sherman , 6 Tabetha Sherman, Anne Sherman and 
John Chops comonly [sic] called Golden Hill Indians," with 
the approval of Josiah Lacy, Esq. petitioned the General 
Assembly. The petition stated: 

\ 
many years ago your Honours saw. fit to appoint an 
A9·ent for the better management of said lands for 
the benefit of your Pitioners [sic] and that new 
A9,ents have from time to time for the same purpose 
bE~len in like manner appointed And that experience 
has fully evinced that no real advantage can be 
dE!:::-ived to your Petitioners •.• [we] humbly pray 
YCiur Honours to order and decree that said lands 
or all the right & Title of the Petitioners in and 
tel ·them may without further delay be sold and the 
avails thereof be placed in some sure & stable 
funds under the care of a proper person or persons 
that the Interest thereof may be annually applied 
to the necessities converiiences and benefit of 
YOUJr Petitioners •.• (IP Vol. II, 3). 

This doc:tnnent underlay the relationship of the state of 
Connecticut and the Golden Hill "heirs" throughout the 19th­
century. The sale of the land set aside for the posterity 
pf EunicE~ and Sarah Shoran heirs provided a monetary fund . 
The administration of the fund generated all the subsequent 
state documents concerning the heirs. 

PETITION CLAIMS 

6This "Eunice" must have been the daughter of Eunice Shoran 
Sherman, for Eunice Shoran Sherman was already dead. (See page 12.) 
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-The Golden Hill group claims that their membership is based 
on desc'E:nt: from the historic tribe through Tom Sherman and 
his wif'E:" Eunice Shoran, who both died prior to 1802. 
Evidenc1e: indicates that Eunice Shoran was a descendant of 
the hist.oric Pequanock/Paugussett Tribe. The ancestry of 
Tom Sherman has not been establish~d. 

SORTING OUT THE SHERMANS 

The TholIlclS Sherman included with the other petitioners to 
the Gen~:!rcll Assembly in 1802, must have been Tom, Jr., for 
"old Tom~ was dead. The document (IP Vol. II, 3) gave no 
explanation as to who Tabetha Sherman and Anne Sherman were, 
nor John Chops. This 1802 document mentioned Eunice 
Sherman" but not Sarah Sherman, who the Golden Hill petition 
claimed "raLS the daughter of Tom Sherman, Sr. and Eunice 
Shoran ShLe~rman. The Golden Hill petition claimed that 
Eunice Cindl Sarah Sherman were sisters of Tom Sherman, Jr. 
(GHPet He~s:ponseAppendix X). BAR researchers attempted to 
identify t.he Shermans mentioned in early petitions. 

Th~ 20 acres that had been set aside as residence for the 
Golden Hill heirs in Stratford had become a part of the' 
Borough clf Bridgeport. Bridgeport was the first borough in 
the Stat:e of connecticut, established in 1800 (Orcutt 1887, 
31). In 1802, the General Assembly of Connecticut ordered 
the land upon which the heirs lived to be sold. At that 
time, the records show few descendants of the Golden Hill 
tribe re~:maining. Tom Sherman, Sr., his wife, Eunice Shoran, 
~nd Sarah Shoran had all died. F~w of the once numerous 
tribe i~habited the land. 

From 1801 to 1807, Josiah Lacy of Stratford was "Guardian of 
the remctinder of a tribe" (CPR, Vol X, 374) (emphasis 
added). That "remainder of a tribe" did not include Eunice 
Sherman, claimed as ancestress of the petitioner, for she 
had her own agent (see discussion below). 

The $1,175.00 received from selling the land resulted from 
splittin~ the land into lots and selling them, mostly in 
cash to a variety of persons (IP Vol. II, 5). By 1803, the 
financial reports show that the money had increased to 
$1576.00 by selling remaining unsold land, and by the 
interest earned on the remaining money. The needs of some 
of the descendants of Eunice (Shoran) Sherman and Sarah 
Shoran WEH"la paid from this fund, as requested. 
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In May of 1803, the General Assembly records show that a 
woman named Eunice Sherman petitioned for her own home. The 
records identify her as a Golden Hill Indian, but do not 
givehe,r relationship to Tom and Eunice (Shoran) Sherman and 
Sarah Shoran. She was living in Woodbridge, and stated that 
she: 

en(lf:~avored to live an honest sober life and to 
gain her sustenance by industry and labor 
agreeable to regular modes of civilized people. 
And a. few years since she lost her husband by whom 
she has three children, all she has and is 
educating in a manner agreable (sic] to practice 
of 1:he steady white people of this State and that 
she flatters herself that her children tho' 
Indians may be useful members at Society And that 
sh~:! is desirous of obtaining a few Acres of land 
whereon to ke~p a Cow & raise some granin [sic] 
and there by not only more convenient support her 
family but also the more easily habituate two sons 
to industry and daily labor which may also prevent 
them entering into those vicious & idle courses so 
common to Indians (IP Vol. II, B). 

She requested that the proceeds of the sale of the lands of 
the Golden Hill tribe be used for that purpose. In 1803, 
Samuel Osborne of Woodbridge was appointed as "trustee & ! 

agent" t',:>r Eunice and her heirs, to select an appropr"iate 
place and take the deed in "his own name in trust," allowing 
reasonable charges for those services (IP Vol. II, 9). In 
1804, JCI:3iah Lacy, Guardian of the. "Golden Hill ~ndians" so 
called" (GHPet Response Appendix V, 8-58), pai"d $10.00 to s. 
Osborn for serving as guardian to Eunice. In summing up of 
accounts I t:he following was recorded in the same report: 

To ~;amuel Osborn Guardian to Eunice one of the 
Gold [sic) Hill Indians now at Woodbridge by order 
of thE~ Assembly as her portion of the above Estate 
••• (Connecticut Guardian Report, Josiah Lacy Acct 
of t.hE~ monies and Estate, 1803). 

The 1806 accounts of Josiah Lacy listed entries concerning 
the recording of Eunice's land in the Fairfield Probate 
office listing S. Osborn as guardian" (connecticut Guardian 
Josiah Lacy accounts, Sept 8, 1806). Again in 1810, Eunice 
Sherman \va.s mentioned in the guardian report to the Probate 
Judge: 

16 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D004 Page 35 of 92 



-, 

Technical Report - - Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

1810.February 10-15 Paid Eunice Shermon for keepin 
(sic] Ann Shermon (sic] when sick 
(connecticut Guardian Report, Josiah Lacy accounts, 
Sept_ 8, 1806). 

This may indicate that Eunice Sherman of Woodbridge was 
interacting with the remainder of the Golden Hill heirs at 
that time. Both Anne and Eunice Sherman had been mentioned 
in the 1802 petition to sell the land. 

In Octobe~r 1816, John Riggs Esquire was "appointed to care 
for the property of Eunice Mack, an indian [sic] woman, 
instead of Samuel Osborne Esquire, decd

• (IP II, 266) 
(emphasis added). There were no entries in the Golden Hill 
guardian reports for John Riggs, nor "did John Riggs file any 
reports that can be located in New Haven County, 
Connecticut. 

It appears that Eunice Sherman, originally an heir to the 
Golden Hill funds, took her portion of the estate for a home 
in Woodbridge in 1803, and by 1816, she was listed in" 
documen1:s as Eunice -Mack. The petitioner claims that Eunice 
Sherman Mack was the mother of Jim Mack, who the petitioner 
claims was the grandfather of William Sherman (GHPet 
Response Appendix X). William Sherman was the common 
ancestor for all the present-day Golden Hill membership. 

From 1807 until 1823, Elijah Burritt was the "overseer" In 
succession to Josiah Lacy, "guardian" for the Golden Hill 
heirs o1:her than Eunice Sherman. Burritt was the first to 
use the term, "overseer". Prior to 1807, the term 
"guardian" was used by those persbns assigned to care for 
the monE~y of and welfare for the Golden Hill heirs. In 1819 
the Genet::"al Assembly of Connecticut passed 

An ,~ct reporting the property of certain Indian 
Tribes. - Be it enacted by the Senate and House 
of Representatives in General Assembly convened 
thcrt the board of Overseers of the respective 
tribes of Indians in this state shall annually 
stcl'te and settle their accounts of the overseers 
of said tribes with the respective County Courts 
in -the _ Counties of which said tribes are situated. 
May Session 1819 (IP Vol. II, 167a). 
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Elijah Burritt dispensed food, medical and lodging expenses 
to those persons he deemed needy, and to the heirs of the 
monies held in Burritt's name as overseer. In 1811, Burritt 
dispensted food and/or clothing to James Sherman, Wheeler 
Sbermau, Charles Sllerman, Phebe Sherman, Nat'l Sherman and 
Ruby Slu~rman. 7 Also included were John Towsey and John 
Chops (GHPet Response, Appendix V," 8-84-5). 

In 1SIB, Nathaniel Sherman died (Conneeticut Guardian 
Report, April 19, 1818, Entry Oct. 15).' 

~ Dolly Sherman was listed in many reports. According to 
the 1823 report, she was the daughter of Ann Sherman, who 
was also listed in many reports (Connecticut Overseer Report 
1823). Dolly died in October 1825 (Connecticut Overseer 
Report 1826).9 

In 1817, Charles Sherman was mentioned in more detail than 
others be!cause he broke his leg while in the City of Newtown 
(IP Vol. II, 15). Newtown would have been responsible for 
Sherman's expenses, either as an Indian or a pauper, had he 
been a resident. Since the only information regarding 
residenc.e associated with Sherman was that he was born as a 
"Golden Hill Indian," jurisdictional transfer was attempted 
from NErwtown to Stratford. When Stratford refused to pay 
for Sherman's expenses, the Selectmen of Newtown petitioned 
the State of connecticut, stating: 

that said Indian is not by the Laws of this state 
an settled inhabitant of any Town therein, in such 
ma.nner as to render such· Town liable for his 
support, but is to all intents & purposes a state 
pauper (IP Vol. II, 16). 

7 'l:l:l.Q petition listed the birthdate of Nancy (claiaed .other of 
Willi .. IJl1e:naan) as circa 1811, that Nancy was a daughter of Ruby 
Mansfield, ilnd that Ruby Mansfield and Ruby Sherman were the same 
person. .lI.cl:ording to Burritt's Overseer reports, Burritt supplied 
shoes and dinner and flannel for a Ruby Sherman in 1811; "victuals" in 
1813 (seE! tc:<mnecticut Overseer's reports, Burritt,1811, 1813). 

a "1818 October 15 ••• to Half a Pint of Spirites (sic) to Nat. 
Sherman .... funerel (sic) Expenses for Nat. Sherman to Coffin" 

9 
Er.t.ry "Oct 17, 1825 Shroud for Dolly ---$1.50"; Entry Jan 4, 

1826 paid David Mills for attending funeral of Dolly ~ith Hearse--­
$2.00" 
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The decision for the state to pay the expenses of Sherman 
out of ·the Golden Hill funds was a new concept for the 
state. Prior to lS17, towns were responsible for the 
Indians among them. However, the funds for the Indians were 
being hl~ld by the overseers, who also acted as selectmen 
from thl~ir respective towns. They -reported to the towns in 
which t.lley inhabited. Indians were not legal residents of a 
town, 501) ,expenses were to be paid out of the state pauper 
general funds if Indian £unds for that particular Indian 
group IN'f~r;e not available. The towns would not be liable for 
the expEm:ses of the Indians. 

lS21 CONNECTICUT STATUTE 

In lS21, Connecticut enacted Title 50. Indians, a state law 
"enacted for the protection of Indians, and the preservation 
of their property" (CPR 1S21, 27S). It provided specific 
regulations: 

> Each tribe of Indians living within Connecticut 
would be assigned an overseer to care and manage 
its tribal lands in the best interest of the 
Indians. 
> 1he overseer was to annually settle his accounts in 
thle county court where the tribe assigned to him 
resided. 
> 'rhe! overseer was not to bargain or convey the land, 
or receive profit from the land. 
> Indians were not to be liable for contracts. 
> If' land was obtained from Indians, title was not to 
be griven for fifteen years (ePR 1821, 278). 

In lS21, the heirs of the Golden Hill monies were landless 
except fair Eunice Sherman/Mack. In 1823, Robert Fairchild, 
who had been selected by the General Assembly, made a 
special .report on the Golden Hill India.ns. He wrote, "the 
whole n\[~ber of persons properly belonging to the Golden 
Hill tribe is nine; -five less than it was in the year 
lS0S." In the same report, Fairchild reported that the 
committe~c~ had decided that the costs of the sick and dying 
amounted: to more than "their several proportions" of the 
income from the interest of the money set aside for that 
purpose. If/hen the land that had been set aside for them was 
sold in 1802, the Golden Hill heirs were to live on the 
interest earned yearly from the monetary fund. In 1823, any 

.expenses incurred over and above the interest acquired would 
be charg€!ci to the State treasury I "the Court of errors 
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having decided that such Indians when reduced to necessitous 
circumstalnces are state Paupers" (Connecticut State Assembly 
Papers 1823, Fairchild Report). In Connecticut, this marked 
a significant change in the legal status of the Golden Hill 
group. 

In genE~ral, state paupers were assigned to the selectmen of 
each t()lom, who would act as overseers to ensure they had . 
food, clothing, firewood, and t.hat their needs were met. 
The selectmen were authorized to draw on the town treasury 
for thE~ir benefit. If the pauper were an inhabitant of 
another town, the selectmen could bill the town to which he 
belongE~d. If the pauper were Indian, the state would now be 
responsible for their expenses if their money should be 
insufficient to meet their expenses •. 

Thus, t:he nine people who were considered heirs of the 
Golden Hill tribe were landless (except for Eunice 
Sherman/Mack), and, after 1823, would be considered state 
paupers if the money set aside in 1802 shorild run out. 

If the agent for Eunice Sherman/Mack made any reports, none 
h~ve been found. In the early 19th-century, the other 
Indians in Connecticut continued to be represented by 

. overseers who reported to a county court as the law 
required. However, the guardian for the remainder of the 
Golden Hill heirs reported to the probate court in 
Bridgeport. 

In 1836, smith Tweedy, as Selectm~n of Bridgeport, was 
overseer of the poor for Brid~eport, and overseer of the 
Golden Hill accounts. He reported one report in 1839 to 
cover 1E36-39. It is the only report that appears to have 
survived.. The report noted that cash was paid out for Ruby 
& Nancy & children since "Jan'y 13, 1836 to this time" 
[Connecticut Overseer Report 1839). It did not state to 
whom or t:C) what city this money was paid, or if he paid the 
money f()I' their benefit directly to them. No other mention 
was madl::! of Nancy or Ruby in the records of Smith Tweedy, 
nor did he mention their surname. In 1839, the fund for the 
Golden Hill heirs remained fairly stable at $1,179.00, but 
it was no longer in the bank. Instead, notes made out to 
various individuals were listed, showing unpaid interest 
(Connecl:icut Overseer Report 1839, Accounts). These notes 

may have been for the land sold in 1802, and resold as time 
progressed. 

20 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D004 Page 39 of 92 



Technical Report - - Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

No documE~nts exist to show the basis of eligibility for 
loans from the money set aside for the Indians from land 
sales. The 1836 report shows one note against the ex­
overseer, Burritt, among the several other notes 
(Connect.icut Overseer Report 1839, Accounts). 

The recc,rds of Bridgeport listed smith Tweedy as a 
Selectman. The records showed him serving on several 
commi ttleE~S , incl ud ing overseer of the poor. The Br idgeport 
records did not record the names of the poor; only amounts 
of moniles spent. Whenever a committee met to investigate a 
situatic:m, only the results of the committee meetings were 
recorded. The committee meeting records themselves have not 
survi ved (Br idgeport, Common Council; Records, Volume I).' It 
is clear t:hat some persons of Indian descent were under 
Tweedy's care,10 but unclear whether they were considered as 
state paupers or as Indians. The designation was clarified 
in the following transactions. \ 

In 1841, a Ruby Mansfield and a Nancy Sharp, alias Nancy 
Pease, of Bridgeport in the County of Fairfield, petitioned 
the General Assembly as "sole surviving heirs" (GHPet 
ResponsE~, Appendix IV, 119) of the Golden Hill monies. 
Neither ,of these family surnames appear in earlier Golden 
Hill records. They wished to use the income of "all the 
monies helonging to said tribe, and that the same was no~ 
under th,e care of their Overseer, Smith Tweedy, Esq. of said 
Bridgepo:rt" (GHPet Response, Appendix IV, 119). They 
petitiorll~d for a place with land to live on, and were 
granted :land and a house in Bridgeport. The Probate Court 
had juri.:;diction over this request and the land was recorded 
und~r thl~ "Estates" portion of the Probate Court (GHPet 
Response:., .1\.ppendix IV, 119). Smi th Tweedy put the land in 
his name as overseer, as prescribed under the State Act of 
1821. 

Ruby and Nancy petitioned to have a barn built upon the land 
in 1843 (General Assembly Papers 1.846). Smith Tweedy, 
Overseer, l~ote to the probate judge in 1843, stating that a 
number of :inhabitants of the town thought the request made 
to build Ci barn should not be granted. In the same 
correspondhnce, Tweedy said that he had ·'application from 

l~nk"Y september 20 I 1843: .. Bill in favor of Smith Tweedy for 
services at City Court, SI5.00." This entry recorded the property of 
Ruby and NCLnc:y. (See text I p. 21 ) 

21 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D004 Page 40 of 92 



Technical Report - - Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

another branch of that Tribe from Litchfield or Hartford 
County for a share in that fund." The "other branch" is not 
named. 11 Tweedy stated that he felt that "Ruby and Nancy 
have had there [sic] share" (General Assembly Papers 1846). 
DespitE~ 1:.he objections, the court directed smith Tweedy, 
Esq. to oversee the building of a barn, not to exceed 
$75.00. 

In 1848, smith Tweedy reported to the County Court of 
Fairfield County that $213.02 was received as interest on 
the monE~y held in the Golden Hill account since the 
settlement in 1843. The reports went on to list the 
proper1ty which belonged to the heirs: 

R(~a.l Estate Bal in Town of Trumbull in 1842 as per 
Deed on File •••.•.••.•••••..••...••••••••• $597.03 
Cash paid tow~rd erecting a barn in 1847 •••• 52.68 
June 15, 1848 Cash paid for Bridgeport city Bond 
in 1846 .••••.•••..••.••••••••.•.••••••••••• 500.00 
Cash paid for Daniel Hachick [sic] Note .••• 100.00 

$1249.71 
(Connecticut, Fairfield County Court files 1848-49) 

Accordin9 to a petition to the Connecticut Assembly by 
Overseer ~rweedy in 1849, Ruby Mansfield was 

liThe "other branch" may have been Sarah Sherman. of whom Orcutt 
said: "~~om Sherman ••• married ••• "Eunice Shoran, and had childre-n: I, 
Tom; II, l~llnice: III, Sarah. '" III Sarah, m. Ben Roberts, a negro, and 
lived at t~he Eagles' Nest at Stratford Tide Hill. Some of their 
descendant:"1 still reside in Orange, Conn., but are not claimants on the 
Indian fuud!!1 of Stratford" (Orcutt 1886, 42,43). According -to the 1850 
Mortality Index of Connecticut, Benjamin Roberts died in Litchfield 
county, Ccmnecticut in March 1850. He was 79 years old. A Sarah 
Roberts a9E! 74, was listed in the 1850 census living with Garaders 
Roberts a~,d Hannah Lines (age 76) .in Litchfield County, Connecticut. In 
the Histo~'y of Orange: "Families of Africans and Descendants of the 
native Indi.ans: ••• Benjamin Roberts: Patty Sharp; Benjamin; Samuel; 
Levi; Elijah; Hannah, married J. Bagdeni Sylvester." On the 1850 Census, 
a Levi Roberts, 60, male, black was living in Orange, New Haven County, 
ct. with his wife Abigail (nee Hatchet) and son, John. (U.S. Bureau of 
the CensuI3 1850b , p. 413, dwelling and family #42.) Hannah Roberts 
married Ja.nel9 Brayden, November II, 1806. Samuel Roberts died May 21, 
1811 at aqe 21; Sylvester Roberts, colored, died September 11, 1813 at 
age 18; Lmri Roberts died September 5, 1854 (Records of the 
congredatl,pnlil Church of Orange, Ct. (formerly N. Milford)« 1805-1910, 
56,72,73,713.JI 
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old and infirm and now resides in the town of 
Oxford in New Haven County with her husband, a 
collared (sic] man; and ••• Nancy (Sharp] the late 
incumbent of said property is now under arrest for 
the crime of arson. & that said barn has lately 
burn~~d as Supposed by some one of said Indian •.• 
we hE~reby recommend that the Assembly pass a 
resolution authorizing the Overseer for the time 
beinq at his discretion to sell said property and 
to invest the avails .•. (General Assembly Papers 
1849) . 

Smith TllrEH~dy would be allowed to sell the property, provided 
that he acquire approval from the judge of probate for the 
district of Bridgeport (GHPet Response Appendix IV, 123-4). 

From 1803 to 1849, the transactions concerning the Golden 
Hill he.il~s were handled in the probate court, while other 
Connecticut Indian transactions were being handled by 
oversee:rs under the county courts in the counties in which 
the Indians resided. Golden Hil1 heirs' transactions were 
representing individuals, while other Connecticut Indian 
transactions were handled, with few exceptions, on behalf of 
groups. For a summary of some of the documents and the 
differences in the way Connecticut was viewing Golden Hi~l 
as compare~d to other Connecticut Indians, see Appendix A. 

Deeds concerning the Golden Hill land transactions have 
relevanc:::e~ to the Acknowledgment process to the extent that a 
land sale: meant that the indi viduc1ls no longer lived in a 
settlemEmt. Land deeds for the Golden Hill heirs { land 
concernE~d. the trustee and purchasers only. The land 
transact:ions are not included in Appendix A. Indians could 
not own land un~ess given that right by special Assembly 
Act, and no individual deeds of ownership were found for the 
Golden Hill heirs, nor did the General Assembly pass any 
acts to allow the heirs to own land as Indians. 

Prior ttl 1854, Dwight Morris became the trustee ·for the 
Golden Hill funds. In both 1854 and 1855, "Dwight Morris of 
Bridgepo:::-t, Fairfield County { Connecticut, as owner [of the 
land] or Trustee of the Golden Hill ~ribe of Indians" (GHPet 
Response: .Appendix IV, 131-4) recorded a land transaction in 
probate court, concerned with the Bridgeport property for 
Ruby ,and Nancy. He did not use the term overseer as his 
predecesf;or, smith Tweedy had. Though some of the land 
deeds did use the term overseer, such as the one in 1862 
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(GHPet: Addendum, January 1995) ,12 most of the Golden Hill 
documents used the terminology, "trustee" or "guardian". 

The Pe~ition Response states that the list of overseers is 
well d.ocumented and poses the question, 1,1 If there was no 
tribe, l~ho were these 'Overseers' over-seeing?" (GHPet 
ResponB,e, Narrative, 31) Many tim~s, the town overseers 
were ov,er-seeing state paupers, as well as over-seeing the 
money IH:~ld in the bank from which they were to disburse 
funds for necessities, as well as land transactions that 
required agent or trustee signatures. 

CLAIME[I DESCENT OF THE PETITIONER FROM KNOWN 19TH-CENTURY 
GOLDEN lULL INDIANS 

EUNI CE SHERMAN MACK 

The petit:ion states that Eunice Shoran Sherman, wife of Tom 
Sherman, had a daughter Eunice, who married a Mack/ 
Mansfield; another daughter Sar~h, who married Ben Roberts; 
and a son, Tom, Jr. who married a Sarah [no surname]. This 
informat.ion seems to have been derived from Rev. Samuel 
Orcutt"s book published in 1886, A History of the Old Town 
of Stn!.t.ford and the city of Bridgeport (Orcutt 1886). 
Since 1:he genealogy of William Sherman, from whom all the 
present-day Golden Hill membership derives, was detailed in 
his booK, an in-depth analysis of each of the major Golden 
Hill h(~irs according to Orcutt follows (Orcutt 1886) . . 
Early historical documents of-the Connecticut General 
Assembly indicate that Tom Sherman, Sr. and Eunice Shoran 
were heads of the Golden Hill family as ·late as 1776. Tom 
Sherman ,served for a short time in the Army in 1761 from New 
Haven (C,ollections of the Connecticut ij'istorical Society, 

12 .Da.ted October 4, 1862 "Russell Tomlinson of Bridgeport in 
Fairfield County, state of Connecticut, Trustee & Overseer of the Golden 
Hill Trilll~ ()f Indians" sold to Eliakim Hough of said Bridgeport for one 
dollar, '''that certain parcel of land with the Buildings, ••• and is the 
same prem:~IH!S mortgaged by said Wheeler decd to Smith Tweedy as overseer 
aforesaid Aug. 1, 1840" (GHPet Addendum, January, 1995, Deed 1526). 
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1905, 10:261, 283}.i3 By 1802, Tom, Sr., his wife Eunice, 
and Sarah were dead (see discussion under historical facts). 
In 1802 Thomas, Tabetha, Ann, and Eunice Sherman and John 
Chops pE~·t.i tioned the General Assembly. The Eunice Sherman 
referred to in this petition may hav~ been the daughter of 
Tom ShenM.n and Eunice Shoran Sherman. As discussed in the 
historical portion, Eunice Sherman appeared in records as 
Eunice Mack by 1817 (see page 16). There was a Eunice Mack 
on the 1840 census, living in DerbX, Connecticut (US Bureau 
of the Census 1840, 319, line 16). 4 A death record from 
Woodbridge recorded: "1841 May 20, Mack, Eunice, Indian 
woman, 85 or more" (Woodbridge Church Records 1934, 89). 

Reverend Samuel Orcutt wrote several county/city histories 
in ConnE!(;ticut in the early 1880' s. Two are of particular 
interest. for this technical report. The first, written in • 
1880, wa.s The History of the Old Town of Derby, Connecticut 
(Orcutt H180) written in conjunction with Dr. Ambrose 
Beardsl,ey. Dr. Beardsley, "having some personal knowledge 
of the family" (Orcutt 1880, xlix), was a better source than 
the later book written by Orcutt alone (Orcutt 1886). In 
the second book, The History of the Old Town of Stratford 
and the_City of Bridgeport, Connecticut, written in 1886, 
Orcutt :rE!Gorded: "Eunice, m. Mack or Mansfield, formerly of 
Kent1S [Litchfield County] and had ... Jim, Garry, and 
Eunice" (Orcutt 1886, 42). Orcutt added: "The tradition is 
that he [~rilliam Sherman] is a descendant of Molly Hatchet 
of Derby" (Orcutt 1886, 43). Dr. Beardsley had personal 
know1edqe~ of the Hatchet family and may have known the Mack 
family as: well.' The IBBO book contains the most information 
about the Mack family: 

13Thc)maLS Sherman enlisted in the Second Company of Lt. Col. 
Smedley's Company on May 13, 1761, and deserted JrJly 16, 1761 with 
Thomas Wart·ops, John Afternoon, and In. Nickerman. John Hatchettowsey 
enlisted -OJ':! April 22 with Warrops Chickens and they, too, deserted in 
August in the eame Company (Collections of the Connecticut Historical 
Society 1905, 10:261, 283). Thomas Sherman, John Hatchettowsey, and 
Warrops Chickens have all been on either a deed with other Indians or, 
in particular, with the Golden Hill ancestors. 

14 Line 16: Eunice Mack listed under Free Colored Persons: 1 male 
36-55 years old; 1 female 36-55 years old; 1 female 55-100 years old. 

ISKer,t: is in Litchfield County and about 40 miles from Trumbull. 
See map, Appendix B. 
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There were James and Eunice· Mack, who lived by 
themselves near the turnpike that leads from 
SEymour to New Haven. Jerry Mack and four other 
Indian men, two squaws and three children lived 
over the hill south of James Mack's about eighty 
rods. For a long time the place was called the 
Indian settlement (Orcutt 1880, liv). 

From the! 1803' petition of Eunice Sherman [who later became 
Eunice Mack], Eunice said she had two s6ns and one daughter. 
If these were th~ same Macks, Orcutt said they were named 
Garry, Eunice, and Jim (Orcutt 1886, 42). Garry may have 
been the Jerry Mack mentioned by Orcutt (or probably 
Beardsley] in 1880. Orcutt continued his narrative by 
telling of an Indian woman from Milford who came to visit, 
became ill and returned to Milford w~ere she died of 
smallpo:K. 

In due time these ten [Jerry Mack, 4 other Indian 
men, 2 women and J children add up to ten, 
excluding Eunice and James~Mack] Indians sickened 
with the same disease, and all died except the 
three children. These children were run down into 
the woods, and vaccinated by Dr. Kendall, and thus 
saved from the terrible scourge. The Indians were 
buried ... in the garden near their huts .•. and 
to make sure that no more Indians should become 
paupers from that settlement, the torch was 
applied in the night season by order of the 
selE~ctmen to these modern wigwams, and thus they 
were reduced to the ashes (Orcutt 1880, liv). 

Orcutt continued by quoting History of the Indians of 
Connecticut written in 1851 by John W. DeForest: 

Om~ of the women, old Eunice as she was commonly 
calle!d, died a number of years since. Her two 
children, Jim and Ruby, 16 I have often seen coming 
into my native village to sell parti-colored 
baskets and buy provisions and rum ... At present 
I believe they are all in their graves (Orcutt 
1880, liv, Iv). 

16Ruby may have beeri a daughter-in-law; see discussion below. 
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He did no·t quote it accurately, however. DeForest recorded: 

One of the women, Old Eunice, as she was commonly 
ca~led, died a number of years since. Her two 
ch~ldren,Jim and Ruby, I have often seen coming 
into my native village to sell parti-colored 
baskets and purchase provisions, the greater part, 
if not the ~hole, of which waS usually rum ... At 
present, I believe, they are all in their graves; 
at least it is years since I have seen them, or 
heard anyone speak of them (DeForest 1851, 357). 

Orcutt reported that ten of the Mack community sickened with 
smallpox and only the three children survived. DeForest's 
book, in 1851, did not state that only the children 
remainecl. In fact, just before the ~uoted portion of 
DeForest's book, DeForest recorded: 

The Woodbridge Indians, known as the Mack family, 
were from the Paugussetts, and moved many years 
ago to their rocky and thorny patch of territory 
in that township. Some were carried off by the 
smallpox, and for ten or twelve years back none 
have remained except one man and two women 
(Deforest 1851, 357). 

In any case, it appears from available information that at 
least Jim and a Ruby survived. A James Mack was listed on 
the 185e census as James Mack, 50, B, born in Conn (US 
Bureau of the Census l850c, 301, Poor House, Line 6). If 
this was. t:he Jim, son of Eunice Sherman Mack, he would have 
been a young child in 1803 when she petitioned for land in 
Woodbridge. Garry, or Jerry Mack was not mentioned further, 
nor was he found on any census in Connecticut. Orcutt's 
listing in 1886 of Eunice Sherman Mack's daughter's name as 
Eunice does not correlate with the quote from DeForest's 
book. HE! listed the children of "Old Eunice" as Jim and 
Ruby (see discussion of Ruby, daughter of Tom Sherman, Jr., 
below) . 

The Eunice Sherman of the 1802 petition was recorded as 
Eunice Mack by 1817. Her children were possibly Jerry or 
Garry, James or Jim, and Eunice or Ruby. She had three 
children: two of them were sons. From the age and place of 
death, the Golden Hill descendant, Eunice Sherman Mack 
probably died in Woodbridge, Connecticut in 1841. She had a 
horne away from other members of the Golden Hill heirs, and 
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used her share of the Golden Hili monies for that purpose. 

TOM SH ERJ'1AN, JR. 

According to Orcutt's 1886 genealogy of William Sherman and 
the Golden Hill petition, Tom Sherman, Jr. married a woman 
named Sarah and they had a daughter named Ruby. Documents 
submi ttE~d and found indicate that Tom Sherman had a wife, 
but she! ""as never named on any of the documents. "Tom's 
daughte,r" was mentioned on several of the pre-1823 overseer 
reports,17 but never by name. 

Tom Sherman, Jr. died before 1823. He was the only Tom 
Sherman mentioned in the guardian's reports prior to 1823, 
and was not listed afterwards. Ruby· Sherman was listed on 
the 1823 Report of the Committee to the General Assembly as 
Tom Sherman's daughter. The same report stated that he (Tom 
Sherman) was deceased (Connecticut General Assembly 1823, 
Fairchild Report). 

Orcutt claimed that, "Jim Mansfield, son of Eunice Shoran 
[sic], m. his cousin, Ruby, dau. of Tom 2nd

, and had Nancy, 
who had VI, William Sherman ... 1\ (Orcutt 1886, 43) .'& On 
the previous page, Orcutt recorded "Eunice, m. Mack or 
Mansfield, formerly of Kent, and had V, Jim, Garry and 
Eunice" (Orcutt 1886, 42) .19 The Golden Hill petition varied 

17 d "to p for nursing & necessaries for Tom's daughter" (May 4, 
1806); "1;:) keeping Tom's family of 5 in number" (September 30, IB06}; 
'"To pd & furnished provisions for Tom & children various times " (May 4, 
1806);"To lodging Tom & wife & son and Sider" (sic] (April 23, 1808); 
'"Tom Sheuaan and wife and Daughter, 3 meals" (April 28, 1808) 
(Connecticut Guardian Reports of Josiah Lacy, 1806-1808). 

IS 

19 

~Jim 
Mack or Mansfield 

\ 
28 

... Eunice Shoran 
Tom Sherman 2nd 
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as to names. The submission in June, 1994, gave Jim's name· 
as Jim Mack/Mansfield, with his marriage date to Ruby in 
1841. 'l'hE~ response to the obvious deficiency letter listed 
him as Jim Mansfield (GHPet Response Appendix X). Since a 
marriagE date of 1841 would make it impossible for him to be 
the legitimate father of Nancy (reportedly born circa 1811). 
Nancy was an adult at the time the marriage date would 
indicate (see 1841 Petition of RubY Mansfield and Nancy 
Sharpe, alias Pease, to the General Assembly). BAR 
researchers assumed that the petitioner meant they were 
married prior to the petition of Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, 
and Ruby Mansfield, in 1841. 

From the 
11 years 
evidence 
was alids 
father of 
Sherman. 
to verify 

documentation submitted and found, Jim Mack was age 
at the time of the reported birth of Nancy. No 
was submitted or found to d6cument that Jim Mack 

Jim Mack/Mansfield or that this Jim, or was the 
Nancy, other than the Orcutt genealogy of William 
Nor has any document been submitted or discovered 
that the father of Nancy was Indian. 

RUBY SHEH1'[AN 

Orcutt's William Sherman genealogy claims "Tom 2d m. Sarah 
(?) and had IV Ruby" (Orcutt 1886, 42). Although Orcutt 
assigned the generational "IV" to Ruby, in his discussion, 
he went directly from III to V, and little else was 
mentioned about her. In the original petition and the 
Golden Hill response to the obvious deficiency letter, 
Appendix X, the genealogy is so confusing20 that BAR 
researchers have used the genealogical response to the 
technical assistance review as the one to examine. 

Garry 
Eunice 

Eunice 

20w i Il iam Sherman's parents are listed as Tom Sherman and Eunice 
Shoran on one page [there are no page numbers] while the page just prior 
to it lists Nancy Sherman Mansfield - Sharp as mother to William 
Sherman. Four pages prior to that, Ruby Sherman (Mansfield) is listed 
as married to Jim Mansfield first and secondly to John Sharp with 
children dS Nancy Sherman Mansfield Sharp, Beecher Sharp and Charles 
Sharp. Tw~ pages prior to that entry, Eunice Sherman with parents as 
Tom Sherman and Eunice Sharan married to Mansfield with children Jim 
Mansfield, Garry Mansfield, and Eunice Mansfield as in Orcutt (GHPet 
Response Appendix X, various pages). 

29 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D004 Page 48 of 92 



Technical Report - - Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

The only clear window through which researchers have been 
able te) view members of the Golden Hill tribe after the 1802 
land sale was the report of the 182] Committee, appointed by 

the General Assembly of the State of connecticut. Their 
report s1:ated that lithe whole number of persons properly 
belonging to the Golden Hill tribe is nine; - five less than 
it was in the year 1808" (Connecticut General Assembly 
Papers 182], Fairchild R~port). Those nine included: 

1. Ann Sherman - aged about------------------------67 years 
2. John Hatchet Towsey, (who says he has two children by a 
scpav.r not of this tribe, from whom he has finally parted, 
le~ving the children with their mother in 
Ma3sachusett----------------------------------------35 years 
3. RIWy Shermao, daughter of Tom Sherman,deceased---33 years 
4. Harriet Sherman, daughter of said Ann------------32 years 
5. Adon1jah Chops, son of John Chops-~--------------32 years 
6. Dolly Sherman, daughter of .aid Ann--------------30 years 
7. A daughter of said Ruby, name unknown, about-----12 years 
8. A daughter of said Dolly, name unknow------------ll y~ars 
9. A daughter of said Harriet, name unknown----------2 years 

:Connecticut General Assembly 1823, Fairchild Report) 
(emphasis added) 

Golden Hill researchers submitted documentation of many of 
the persons on this list. According to the documentation 
presented, they lived and died in various towns, but 
seemingly, did not interact with one another. The present­
day petitioners claimed descent from Ruby Sherman only. 

The Golden Hill response to the technical review listed Ruby 
Sherman as born about 1789 in Derby, Connecticut, died 11 
October 1849 in Derby. It further stated that in 1841, she 
married Jim Mack/Mansfield, born in 1800. 

As discussed previously, a Ruby Sherman was listed on the 
early "quardian" reports. In the 1823 Fairchild report, a 
Ruby Sherman was listed as age 33 years, making her birth 
year around 1790. The death record of a Ruby Mack in the 
Derby Town records stated: "1849 Oct. 11.:Ruby Mack, female: 
Age: 60; Color: Black (Indian); Place of Birth: Newtown; 
Residence: Derby; Reported Cause: Fits" (Derby vital 
Records, Vol 4, 1849). This person's age would be 
consistent with the 1823 Fairchild report as well as the 
Golden tlill response to the technic~l review claim. The 
surname on the death record- is consistent with the assertion 
that by 1841, Ruby Sherman had married James Mack, son of 
Eunice Sherman Mack. No data has been offered to account 
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for Ruby's supposed surname change from Mack to Mansfield, 
which was not consistent in the records. Evidence was 
neither found nor submitted to show that Ruby Mack and Ruby 
Mansfield were, in fact, the same person. 

In 1849, 1:he overseer, smith Tweedy reported that Ruby 
Mansfield was old and living with her husband in Oxford, New 
Haven county, Connecticut and that he was a "colored man." 
Oxford is only a few miles from Derby (see map, Appendix B). 
If the Ruby Mack who died in 1849 in Derby, Connecticut, was 
the petitioning Ruby Mansfield in 1841 and 1846, then her 
husband, l1ansfield, given name unknown, was a Itcolor,ed manit 
(Connecticut Overseer Report 1849). 

James Mack was still alive in 1850, residing in the Poor 
House (US Bureau of the Census 1850C; 301, line 6). In 
1845: 

a certain pauper in and of said town of Derby, an 
Indian, named James Mack, is the owner of certain 
lands and other real estate in said town of Derby, 
wh~ch estate being fully described in their [town 
of Derby] said petition, reference is had therein; 
- praying this Assembly for leave to sell and 
convey said real estate and to appropriate the 
avails thereof to the support of the said Mack: 
Resolved by this AsSembly, that Samuel French ... 
is authorized to sell and convey said real estate, 
and to cause the avails thereof to be appropriated 
to the support of the said James Mack. And in 
case the entire avails of said sale shall not be 
needed for said Mack's future support, then, the 
excess thereof to descend in the same manner and 
for the same purposes as though said sale had not 
been made (Resolutions and Private Acts 1845, 
39,40). 

There is no compelling reason to believe that James Mack and 
James Mansfield were the same person. The records indicate 
that James Mack was a pauper in Derby while Ruby Mansfield 
was living with her husband in Oxford. The overseer 
reported 1:he latter, as a "colored man," not Indian as would 
have been expected if he were James Mack. 

Assertions concerning Ruby Sherman's parentage were made by 
several different historians, none documented. The first 
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historian who listed Shermans as' Golden Hill Indians was 
John W. DeForest, in 1851. He stated 

The tribe [Golden Hill] now numbers two squaws, 
who live in an irregular connection with negroes, 
and six half breed children, all of whom are grown 
up but one. They are all intemperate, but have 
been of about the same number,for many years. 
Their family name is Sherman (DeForest 1851, ]57). 

The guardian reports listed a Ruby Sherman as the daughter 
of Tom. In 1839, "Ruby and Nancy and children" received 
funds, but no surnames were listed. In 1841, Ruby Mansfield 
and Nancy Sharp, alias Pease, petitioned the General 
Assembly as sole heirs to the Golden Hill Estate. Perhaps 
these were the two females to whom DeForest referred in the 
passage cited above, but no documentation was presented or 
found to validate that the Ruby or Nancy of 1839 were 
Sherman!; . 

Another narrative was D. Hamilton Hurd's History of 
Fairfie)d County, published in 1880 (Hurd 1880). Hurd's 
book may have been the source of Orcutt's information for 
his second book containing information on the Golden Hill 
I~dians, which was published only a few years later (Orcutt 
1886). Hurd used primary sources for much of the material 
in his historical narrative. He quoted both from the 
Connecticut Indian Papers and from documents that are no 
longer available in the repositories today. He did not 
attempt a genealogy of William Sherman, but stated 

In 1841, Ruby Mansfield and Nancy Sharp, a11as 
Nancy Pease, petitioned the Legislature, alleging 
that they were the sole survivors of the tribe, 
and asking that a portion of the money in care of 
their agent, Smith Tweedy, be used to purchase a 
dwelling-house and sufficient land for their use 
and benefit. The Legislature by vote authorized 
Mr. Tweedy, with the advice and consent of the 
judge of Probate for the District of Bridgeport, 
to expend a sum not exceeding six hundred dollars 
for this object, and in November he purchased from 
Sam~el Edwards about twenty acres of land, with a 
small house upon it, situated in Trumbull, at a 
place called Turkey Hill Meadow, where Ruby and' 
Nancy took up their abode. Their statement, 
however, that they were the sole survivors of the 
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tribe was not strictly accurate. 
John Chops, who died in North Bridgeport in 

1818, and whose name is perpetuated by the 
appellation of a hill upon which his wigwam stood, 
and \<lilliam Sharp, a seafaring man, who is 
believed to have been sold into slavery at a South 
American port by his rascally captain, probably 
left no issue, but at the present writing (1880) 
there are still several families of these Indians 
remaining. William Sherman, the most intelligent 
of their number, lives in the town of Trumbull. 
He has for many years been in the employ of the 
Ambler family, by whom he is held in very high 
esteem for his many good qualitie~. His wife is a 
negro woman, and they have three or four children. 
Herry Pease, a nephew of Willia~ Sherman, is also 
a resid~nt of Trumbull; he lost his hand a year or 
twc since by the accidental discharge of a gun. 
There is also a family named Jackson, whose home 
is in North Stratford. So\far as known to the 
writer, these are all the survivors of the Golden 
Hill branch of the once numerous Paugusset tribe. 
At the present time their funds amount to about 
two thousand dollars, divided as follows: 

Amount over to town of T+umbull for the support 
of Henry Pease, per Act of Legislature ....•. S900 
Lent William Sherman to build a house ....... 800 
Balance in City Savings Bank, Bridgeport ...•• 321 

Total ............•..... $2021 
(Hurd 1881, 68) 

Orcutt JlS the latest historical report found mentioning the 
origins of Ruby (Orcutt 1886). Much validity has been 
attribut:ed to Orcutt's genealogical account of William 
Sherman. He did not discuss Ruby, who he claimed was 
daughter of Tom Sherman, 2d. However, he recorded: 

VI. William Sherman, son of Nancy and grand-son of 
Tom 2d and Ruby, was born in 1825 in Poughkeepsie, 
N.Y., and is still living at Nichols Farms in 
Trumbull, Conn. being the sale claimant on the 
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Indian money from the sale ~f Golden Hill (Orcutt 
1 B 86 I 43).21 

Based on the above-mentioned quote, one would assume that 
Willialn Sherman's mother was Nancy and that Nancy's parents 
were Tom 2d and Ruby. However, in the preceding paragraph, 
Orcutt said that Ruby was the daughter of Tom 2d (Orcutt 
1886, 43). 

As a result of Orcutt's inconsistency, the petitioner's 
presentation of the group's genealogy was also confused. 
Both the original petition and the response to the obvious 
deficiency letter reported that not only did Ruby marry her 
first cousin, James Mack/Mansfield, but that William was the 
product of Ruby and her father, which is chronologically 
improbable (Tom Jr. died before 1823-, while William was not 
born until after 1825). Neither is such a rel~tionship 
supported by the contemporary records. 

Despi tE~ much research and document analysis, BAR researchers 
are uncertain who Ruby's parents were. The Ruby Sherman in 
the guardian and overseer reports was undoubtedly the 
daughter of Tom Sherman II, son of Tom Sherman I and Eunice 
Shoran. It is probable that this Ruby Sherman did marry 
James/Jim Mack, and thus became the daughter-in-law (not 
daughter) of Eunice Sherman/Mack. No direct documentation 
exists to validate claims that the "Ruby Mansfield" of the 
petition response the General Assembly in 1841 of Ruby 
Mansfield and Nancy Sharp, alias Pease, was the "Ruby 
Sherman" in the overseers' reports, or the same person as 
Ruby Mack in Derby. The Ruby Mack who died in Derby in 1849 
could possibly have been the same person as the Ruby Sherman 
recorded. in the reports, but no documentation was found to 
confirm claims that she was the same person as "Ruby 
Mansfield." Documented proof that Ruby Sherman was the 
mother of Nancy Sharp, alias Pease, and grandmother of 
William Sherman, has not been discovered. Thus, descent 
from the Golden Hill Paugussett or Pequanock tribe through 
Ruby Sherman has not been documented. 

21 

William L{
0m2nd 

Sherma 
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NANCY SHARP, ALIAS PEASE 

According to the petition, Nancy Sherman/Mansfieldu was born 
circa 1311, and was the un-named, 12-year old daughter of 
the "Ruby Sherman" listed on the 1823 list of the Golden 
Hill heirs (Connecticut General Assembly Papers 1823). If 
Ruby rE.~·:ained her Sherman name, and if Nancy was born with 
the Shej:-man name, then william, if ·born prior to Nancy's 
subsequent marriages, could possibly have carried the 
Sherman surname. No documented source was submitted or has 
been found to validate the petitioner's assumption. It is 
recorde·d here only as a possible explanation of how William 
Sherman could have carried that surname. 

The fir!;t document that mentioned Ruby and Nancy together 
did not list surnames, and only stated that monies for the 
years 1836-1839 were spent on necessities for Ruby and Nancy 
(Connecticut Overseer Report 1838). It was not until 1841 
when "Ruby Mansfield and Nancy Sharpe, alias Peasel! 
(Connecticut General Assembly Papers 1841, #53) petitioned 
the General Assembly of Connecticut that surnames were used. 
No fami~ial relationships were recorded. 

The General Assembly stated that Nancy was arrested for 
suspicion of arson (General Assembly Papers 1849, #68). 
State prison records did not record her as a prisoner under 
either name, nor did they show a John Sharpe, concerning 
whom Orcutt stated in 1886, that Sharpe went to prison 
(connecticut state Prison Records 1848-1854). Wethersfield 
vital Records indicate that a 51 year old man listed as John 
Sharp, Black, died in state prison in Wethersfield on June 
20, 1851. His birthplace was listed as Milford 
(Wethersfield Vital Records Vol. 4, 1932, 1933). A 
relatio~ship has not been documented between this John Sharp 
and Nancy. 

BAR researchers searched for other clues pertaining to Nancy 
Sharp(e) , alias Pease. Molly Hatchet was reportedly an 
ancestor of William Sherman (Orcutt 1996, 43). The Records 
of the ~onqregational Church of Orange, Connecticut list a 
Nancy, born January 4, 1810, as the daughter of Joseph 
Richardson, son of Molly Hatchet (Orange Connecticut Church 
Records 1970, 107). The date is comparable to the date of 

n The petitioner claims both surnames (GHPet Response Appendix Xl. 
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birth approximated by the Golden Hill researchers for Nancy 
Sharpe, alias Pease. 

To fur~her verify the Sharpe connection, Benjamin Roberts, 
who ma=ried Sarah Sherman of the Golden Hill heirs, was 
reported as having a 'daughter named Patty Sharp, or was 
married to a Patty Sharp2J (Orange, Connecticut Church 
RecordJ~, 107). Only the children of Benjamin Roberts were 
listed. and data. was verified by the Records of the 
Conqre£~~tional Church. There was no more information on 
Patty Sharp. However, a Levi Roberts, probable son of 
Benjam~n and Sarah (Sherman) Roberts, married Abigail 
Hatchet of Woodbridge in 1809 (Orange, Connecticut Church 
Record~~ 1970, 57). 

There was no evidence found or prese~ted to support the 
petitioner's contention that Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, was 
both the mother of William Sherman and the daughter of Ruby 
Sherman Mansfield. While there is circumstantial evidence 
for the former claim (see discussion below), the parentage 
of Nancy remains unproven. Nonetheless, whatever her exact 
ancestry, she was regarded, in her lifetime, as being a' 
claimant to the Golden Hill monies. 

CHILDREN OF NANCY SHARPE, ALIAS PEASE 

Available records tie William Sherman closely to the other 
known children of Nancy Sharp, alias Nancy Pease. 

According to Orcutt 

Nancy ... had William Sherman; after which she m. 
John Sharpe, and had Beecher, Nancy and Charles, 
and Sharpe being sent to State's Prison, she lived 
with a man Rensler [no surname], and had Olive 
(Orcutt 1886, 43). 

The 1850 Connecticut census listed a Levi Peas, 45, M 
(male), B (black), born in Connecticut, with Henry, age 5, 
M, M(mulatto); Nancy age 19, F (female), M, and Charles 
Sharp, 17, M, M (US Bureau of the Census 1850a, 320, 
Dwellinq and Family #5). On the same census in the city of 

13 F'r"om the records, it was difficult to ascertain if she was a 
wife or d~ughter, for she was merely listed after a semi-colon after the 
name of B.?njamin Roberts. 
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Bridgeport, a Rensellar Peas was'listed as age 43, M, M, 
with Caroline Jackson,~ 35, Female, Mulatto and Olivette 
Peas, age 7, F, M (US Bureau of the Census 1850a, 281, 
Dwelling #972, Family #1287). 

A Levi Pease and George Sherman, son of William Sherman, are 
buried in the same lot in the cemetery, but no relationship 
is listed (Additional Submission 1~94, section 6,Burial 
Records) . 

The Sherman Family Bible listed, along with the children of 
William Sherman, a "Mary Olive Jackson, born Feb. 27, 1842" 
and "Mary Olive Jackson died Sep 13, 1864" (Golden Hill 
Petition, Sherman Family Bible). The entry was out of 
chronological order, on a consecutive line in the Bible. 
For some time the aforementioned entry was a puzzle. 
However, when the Bible entry was coupled with the 
information from Hurd's history in 1880 that ~isted the 
Jackson family as heirs to the Golden Hill monies (see 
p.32), and with the Rensellar Peas family which had an 
Olivette: (see above), it made more sense. Olivette Peas may 
have beEn the Mary Olive Jackson listed in the Bible, and 
the halE sister of William Sherman. Olive apparently became 
a Jackscn prior to her death in 1864, or used the Jackson 
surname (US Bureau of the Census 1860a, 489, Dwelling #2238, 
Family j¥2~=;22) .25 

No records have been found concerning Beecher Sharpe. Nancy 
Sharpe was listed on the 1850 census. On October 20, 1850, 
Trumbull Vital Records stated: Charles Sharp, male, 20, 
black, born in Trumbull and died of consumption (Trumbull 
Vital Records 1851, Deaths). 

24 1>. Caroline Pease was on the 1860 Census in the Poor House in 
Litchfield, who would have been the correct age to be the same as the 
Caroline Jacknon listed on the 1850 Census report (also see marriage 
record of Renseller Pease to Caroline Jackson (Litchfield Vital Records 
1850, Ma~.riage of Caroline Jackson to Rensellaer Pease, October 10). 

250welling #2238, Family #2522:Edward H~bbill 30/M/M Day laborer 
4000 prope~ty/100 personal property, b. Conn.; Catherine Hubbill 28 F/M 
b. Conn.; ~nd children Edward, Fr~ncis and William as well as Olive 
Jackson IH/F/M and Hamilton Jackson 23/M/M Steamboat Clerk. The census 
was taken on 6 August 1860 making her 18 years old according to the 

. birth date of February 1842 listed in the Sherman Bible. 
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WILLIA11 SHERMAN 

Accord~ng to Orcutt, William Sherman was the son of Nancy 
Sharpe/Pease (Orcutt 1886, 43). Orcutt's claim concerning 
Willian Sherman's Indian descent was recorded on the church 
record that listed his death. H Though Orcutt did not 
document". his sources, he has been quoted many times since in 
numerOtls histories. However, one of the major difficulties 
in trying to identify the petitioner's ancestor, William 
Sherman in other documents has been the fact that there were 
several Hilliam Shermans in the State of Connecticut at that 
time. In an effort to identify the Golden Hill petitioner's 
Williarr Sherman, BAR researchers, the petitioner, and CHHH 
have ccllected many "William Sherman" documents. 

The earliest document that identified a William H. Sherman 
who could have been William Sherman, ancestor to the 
present-day Golden Hill membership, in 1842 was a seaman's 
certification upon which William would have been 17 years 
old (Seaman Certification #571, District of New Bedford, May 
12, 1842). Since it listed thi's particular William 
Sherman's birthplace as Tioga, Pennsylvania, BAR researchers 
have not included it in the surveys that follow. 

The 1849 document that listed William Sherman on the whaling 
vessel, Montezuma, age 23 years, appears to pertain to the 
William Sherman claimed by the present-day Golden Hill 
membership. This conclusion was based on the stated age at 
the time of the document and the birthplace of Pow Keepsie 
[sic) [New York), as well as his residence of Bridgeport 
[Connecticut) at the time (National Archives Record 
Adminis1:.ration 1984, Records of the Collector of Customs for 
the ColJection District New London, Connecticut 1789-1938, 
Roll 56). In 1851 and 1853, the master of the ship Clematis 
also listed his birthplace as Poughkeepsie, N. Y. His age 
and physical description remained accurate, as well 
(National Archives Regional Center 1984, Records of the 
Collectgr of Customs for the Collection District New London, 
Connecticut 1789-1938, Roll 56). 

M "~ay 18. William Sherman died, aged - 61 years - He was from 
the Golden l1.i11 tribe of Indians - See Orcutts - History of Stratford -
page 43" (Trumbull Connecticut (Formerly North Stratford) Congregational 
Church Records, 1730-1931 Vol III, 1886) 
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The petition, the death record of William Sherman, and most 
of the census returns, indicate that William Sherman was 
born in Poughkeepsie, New York. Though census returns tend 
to inflatl:~ or deflate his age, BAR researchers have agreed 
that the petitioner's claim of circa 1825 for the year of 
birth of William Sherman is as accurate as possible. 

In an effort to establish William Sherman's parentage, BAR 
researchers searched the poughkeepsie area for surnames 
similar to those found in the genealogy of William Sherman. 
There were only two records of anyone named Nancy 
Sherman/Mack/Mansfield in New York State in 1830. One was 
Nancy Mansfield, listed in New York city without children 
(US Bureau of the Census 1830d, 434). The other was a Nancy 
Mack, listed in Ulyses Town, Tompkins County, New York. She 
was listed as age 40-50, in a househ6ld with other free 
white females ages one under 5, one 5-10 and one 15-20, with 
a free ~hite male, aged 5-10 (US Bfireau of the Census 1830d, 
382) . {I/o other Macks, Shermans or Mansfields were found in 
New York living with a male child in their home under the 
age of ~ years, or between 5 and 10 years. None lived 
anywherE' !lear Poughkeepsie. 

lIT 1825, around the year William Sherman was born, a census 
was taken in the town of Ulysses, Tompkins County, New York, 
There was one Sherman listed, a Peter Sherman 2nd. A John 
Mack and a Nathaniel H. Mack were listed, but no Mansfields. 
They we~e not described as Indians (New York State Census 
1825 fOL Tompkins County 1991, 152, 155). BAR researchers 
did not examine these leads further because Tompkins County 
is located half way across the state of New York from 
Poughkeepsie, where William Sherman was reported to have 
been born. This information is added at this point to 
illustrate the difficulty in determining the parents of 
William Sherman. 

William Sherman appears to have been listed twice on the 
1850 census. First he was listed on the ship Montezuma as a 
crew member, age 33 born NYv, and second in the household of 

nAt E~nd of ship Montezuma enumeration, the census taker wrote: 
In the enumeration of the Mariners, I have endeavored 
car~fully to follow the "Instructions" omitting from the 
ere"' lists all persons known to be registered in families. 
The original copy has been carefully revised with the aid of 
an c,ld ship Master, and again with the aid of a native 
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Nancy Hopkins, age 72, with Jim S. Hopkins, a mariner. In 
this household a William T. Sherman was listed as age 30, 
birthplace England, a mariner, followed by Nancy M. Sherman, 
age 15, born in Connecticut (US Bureau of the Census 1850d, 
106, Dwelling #395, Family #13). Because of the birthplace 
as England, no further consideration would have been given 
to this William Sherman. However, the 1860 Census of 
Trumbull, Connecticut, listed William Sherman's age as 40, 
born in New York, and Nancy Sherman, his wife, as age 25, 
born ill Massachusetts, exactly the same age as the 1850 
census, just 10 years later (US Bureau of the Census 1860a, 
903, Dwelling #55, Family #65). A Nancy Hopkins married a 
Willian Sherman in 1853, and the record stated that Nancy 
was from Norwich (Vital Records of Norwich, 1659-1848 II, 
983). William and Nancy Sherman were listed with three sons 
in 1860 (US Bureau of the Census 1860a, 903, Dwelling # 55, 
Family #65). The same three sons were verified in the 
Sherman Bible as well (GH Response to the Technical Report 
1994, ~;l",ction 7). 

It is ll"'ss clear what transpired in the William Sherman 
househc)ld after 1850. The petitioner provided an extremely 
old Bil)le for BAR's inspection in 1994, with claims that it 
was the William Sherman Bible. In the center of the book 
were pages listing births and deaths, as was the custom in 
old BiblE~s. The births were 

William Sherman ......... May 7th 1825 
Nancy his wife ......... Oct 21 1832 
William Sherman, Jr ...... Sep 22 1857 
Henry ................•... Oct 21 1858 
Mason .................. March 10 1860 
George .......•...•...... Feb 27 1862 
Mary Olive .....•........ Dec 27 1863 
Caroline Elizy ......... March 10 1865 
Harrit [sic] Huldah .... March 25 1867 
Mary Olive ..•..•........ June 21 1869 
Charles. ~ ...•........... Oct 27 1870 
Mary Olive Jackson .. ~ .•. Feb 27 1842 
Harriet L. Sherman .. November 27 1870 
Edward Lewis Sherman ..... May 26 1888 
Walter S. Sherman ...... March 24 1891 

resident ship Agent. Whole of the mariners reported at 
Cu~;t~oms House. 
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Ethel L. Sherman ....... April 2 
Marsha Ann Nelson ...... March 1 

Deaths :isted were 

1893 
1941 

Mary Olive Jackson ......... Sep 13 1864 
Mary Olive Sherman ........ July 27 1867 
Mason Sherman .............• Jan 13 1875 
Henry Sherman .............. Dec 23 1876 
Willem [sic] Sherman ....... May 11 1886 
Nancy Sherman ........ February 1st 1903 
Harrit [sic] Sherman. November 27 1904 
Mary Olive Sherman ... November 27 1905 
GE'orge Sherman ....... December 28 1938 

Walter S. Sherman ..... [no dat~ listed] 

There was more than one handwriting in the Bible. The 
handwriting remained uniform until after William Sherman's 
death date, and may have been that of William Sherman." 
There were at least two different styles of writing after 
his death date. Because of the later dates of births and 
deaths, not all entries could have been made by William 
Sherman, who died in 1886. No explanation was offered as to 
who recorded the information after William Sherman died. 

In 1857, records recorded in the vital records books of 
Trumbull, Connecticut were listed by recorder of that year. 
From a survey of various pages, BAR researchers concluded 
that the birth and death records were recorded all at the 
same time, after the incidents occurred, recorded by a third 
party. On a page dated first of January, 1858, the birth of 
a male child, son of a William Sharpe and Nancy Sharp was 
recorded. The birth record date of September 22, 1857, and 
sex of t:he child correspond with the birth date recorded in 
the Sherm~n Family Bible as that of William Sherman, Jr., 
the oldE~st son of William and Nancy (Hopkins) Sherman. The 
ages of the parents on the birth record, William and Nancy 
Sharpe, 1~ere 30 years and 24 years respectively; they were 
listed a:; white; the occupation for the father was "Sailor" 
(Trumbull Vital Records, Les Bena, Registrar, First of Janry 
1858) ,28 This birth record is the only document that may 

28 1n the Trumbull Vital records, the date at the top of some of 
the pages jenotes the date that all of the records on that page were 
recorded lnto the Trumbull Vital Records books. "Thus, the "Janry 1858" 
denotes th~t they were brought into the Town Clerk's office and recorded 
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suggest a relationship of William Sherman, Sr. to Nancy 
Sharpe.. The Golden Hill petition claims that Nancy Sharpe 
was the mother of William Sherman, Sr. This document by 
itself would be insufficient to conclude that William 
Sherman 'Nas the son of Nancy Sharp. His association with 
her other children as listed in Orcutt, implies the 
existence of a possible familial relationship. (See 
discussion below.) Although there are many document~ 
concerning William Sherman, he was'seldom referred to as 
"Indian tl until 1870 and later, and then they are varied. If 
the birth document is a record of the birth of William 
Sherman"s son, it is the only one to record the "William 
Sherman" of Golden Hill ancestry, as "white." All the 
remaining records that identify race or color identify 
Wi 11 ia iTt Sherman state other des ignations. 

DIARY/ACCOUNT BOOK 

The petitioner submitted a diary/account book attributed to 
William Sherman, Sr. It contained daily entries for the 
years of 1873 to 1877. The diary/account book also recorded 
accounts with persons for whom William Sherman and others 
worked for the periods from 1857 until 1877. Many pages 
were cut out, and half pages were also cut out. Though 
alterat:ions to portions of the book put doubt on its 
validit:y, BAR researchers have analyzed it as a document 
allowin~ a window through which to view the community 
surrounding William Sherman. 

In William Sherman's diary/account book, the people with 
whom William Sherman associated on a non-working basis were 
analyzed. Many were identified on the corresponding census 
records. On those census records, some may have been of 
Indian descent, but in nearly every case, were recorded as 
black or mulatto, never as Indian, at the same time periods 
that Wi1liam Sherman identified as Indian. Appendix B shows 
the persons with whom William Sherman socialized on Sundays 
as taken from entries in his diary/account book and the 
correspmlding census data for those persons. 

The exception to the socialization pattern was Henry Pease, 
who Hurd claimed, was William Sherman's nephew (Hurd 1881, 
68). T~ere were many instances in t~e Sherman diary/account 
book that mentioned Henry. In October and November of 1860, 

in January of 1858. 
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Henry worked for Franklin Ambler; and William Sherman kept 
track of his wages. Sherman recorded, "November the 2th 
[sic] Give Henry $200"(Note: no decimals were used~ but $200 
was in reality, $2.00} (GHPet Response Appendix XI, 101). 
Another page stated 

Henry O. Peas a Count 1860 
With William Sherman in 1860 
March the 24th O. E. Plumb Paid for 
Work 3 Days $125 
Sawing 2 loads of Wood 125 
April the 6th receive Cash for 200 
Sawing Wood to William 

Ufords 535 
Receive Henry O. Peas 
Bank Book April the 15th 
in 1860 and hed [sic) in it 
April the 14th 1860 $850 

\ received from Willi~m Uffords 
Cash for Sawing Wood $535 

Cloth cuting [sic) and Makeing [sic) 
two pair of overhauls 150 

[on the same page in the left margin] Henry O. 
Peas Left Mrs. Jutson March the 17th 1860. 

(GHPet Response Appendix XI, 103) 

Another entry for Henry peas occurred 

April 16th 1860 
Henry went to Abil stiles Beachis 
October the 14th Henry O. Peas 
Left Abi1 S. Beachis 
and was Paid in 
Full up to this Date 
he Work for five 
Dollars a month 

Henrys Bills Paid for Bord 
Paid Bard March the 24th 

to Sidney Nichols 
Washing 1 shart [sic) 
April thA 6th Paid Cash 
Turnd [sic) to o. E. Plumbs 
Paid for Board 

With Abil S. Beach in 1860 
and Henry O. Peas 

[sic] 1860 
$150 

6 
200 

March 24 
275 
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Jun 10 one pair of Shoes to' O. E. Plumbs 
July 4 went to Bridgeport Cash 200 
July 5 went to Burmingham (sic] 

one pair of Shoes to O. E. Plumbs 
Aug 6 went to Burmingh~m [sic] 

11 

125 

130 
200 

Sep 3 one pair of Boots to O. E. Plumb 275 
Oct 14 Paid Cash to Henry. $21.00 

(GH Pet Response Appendix XI, 108) 

From an analysis of page 108 (above), it appears that Henry 
Peas worked for Abil stiles Beach for five dollars per 
month from April through October, bringing in a total wage 
of $]0. If the deductions for "Bord" were excluded from 
the balance, $9.]0 would total the expenses. Henry would be 
left ~rLth a total of $20.70, or perhaps the $21.00 as his 
wages. 'William Sherman paid him $21.00 on October 14, 
1860. On the 1860 census, Abel S. Beach, Jr. was listed 
with h.is [Beach's) family. His household included ~Henry 
B. Pease, 16, M/M working as a domestic, born in 
Connecticut" (US Bureau of the Census 1860a, 910-11, 
Dwelling #126, Family #145). 

In 185~7, another entry in the diary/account book listed 

TUlLnd [sic) to Levi Peas 
April 29th in 1859 Cash 200 
the cutting and makeing [sic] 

2 pair of overhaul -- 75 
:une 28th turnd [sic) to O.E.Plumb 400 
November the 13th Cash 75 

Jen [sic) 9th went to Burmingham (sic] 
to see Henry Peas and hors [sic] $125 

Toll to gate 5 
Br idge toll 4 

Last trad [sic] with 
Levi Peas 1865 

1. 44 

538 

(GHPet Response Appendix XI, 92) 

Henry Peas turned 21 years of age in 1865. It is unclear 
why William Sherman "trad[ed]1I with Levi Peas, but it was 
connected with Henry Peas. BAR researchers have been 
unable to identify the birth parents of Henry O. Peas, but 
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Hurd's assessment that Henry was the nephew of William 
Sherman (Hurd 1881) may be correct. Available informatiori 
suggests there may have been a familial connection. Henry 
Peas was not identified a~ "Indian," however. Closer study 
of the Pease and Jackson families woul~ be necessary to 
determine the exact relationships involved. 

Familial connections were not apparent for other persons 
mentioned in the William Sherman diary/account book. 
George Purdy, in 1877, "Wed [sic] onions 1/2 Day" and "hoed 
potatoes all Day" on June 24 and 26, is off set by "Work 
for Purdy: 2 Candle Pinchers; 1/2 Bushel Potatoes" (GHPet 
Response Appendix XI, 12). There were also accounts of 
William Sherman's children: 

David Worner Cold Spring ct 
Whare [sic] Gerge [sic] Lives 
Went to Worners April 13th 1871 

Bill Went to Henry 
for 8 Dollars 
Am~nth hed 

Welsesl(sic] . 
Aprl1 17 1871 

(sic] cash 75 
10.00 
5.00 

Work to Charles Nichols 
1 Day Oiging [sic] 7 hours stoneing . 
1 Day Stoneing Cash 3 dolar [sic) 

(GHPet Response Appendix XI, 21) 

Gerge [sic] and Bill can be substantiated as the children of 
William Sherman by census records that show them as Shermans 
living with these families. 

Page 22 of the diary/account book listed both George and 
Bill's work activities and rates of pay f6r August, 
September and October of 1870. Page 28 contained an 
interesting entry: 

September 1861 
Charles Bengaman [sic) begun to bord [sic] 
October th [sic] 11 Paid $6.00 
November 9 Paid $17.00 
(GH?et Response Appendix XI, 28) 
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Another entry listed another person: 

August 7, 1865 
Jo Hawley Boy Begun to Bard 
for two Dollar and a hIt [sic} a Weak [sic] 
Sep 10 Paid $5.00 
Oc [sic] 1 Paid 6.00 

15 Paid 5.00 

16.00 
28 Jo Hawley Move his goods and Boy 

Boy bourded [sic] 12 weaks 2.50 a weak 
BOys board 30.00 

Paid 16.00 

14.00 
Paid by GBA Paid 5.00 

9.00 
(GHPet Response Appendix XI, 37, 39) 

The above entries raise the question whether or not William 
Sherman was an agent for children who were boarded out, as 
was the custom of the times. From the 1860 census returns, 
identification of the boys mentioned above in the 
diary/a:count book was uncertain. The surnames of the boys 
mentiow~d include many of the persons listed as "Mu" or "BII 
in the census returns. One census entry in Bridgeport 
includes not, only the Purdy name, but the Freeman and 
Roberts surnames as well.~ Most of the surnames in the two 
households listed in the footnote are surnames found in the 
William Sherman diary/account book. 

In 1872, an Act was passed to enable children of Indians to 
be inden"tured by the signature of two justices of the peace 
if those children were exposed to want, or if they lived in 
idleness (GHPet Response Appendix IV, 152). The placement 

~ Dwelling #2056, Family #2331: "Samuel stuart 70/M/S Day laborer 
b. Conn.; Matilda Stuart 60/F/B b. Virginia; Sally Roberts 55/F/B b. 
Conn.; Serena Freeman 45/F/B b. Conn.; Catherine Purdy 50/F/B b. Conn.; 
Sarah Freeman S8/F/B b. Conn.; Eliza Freeman 55/F/B" (US Bureau of the 
Census 18~iOa Roll 74, p.463). Next door is "Frederick Hawley 33/M/M 
Coachman, b. conn.; Harriet Hawley 43 F/M b. Conn.; Joseph Johnson 13 
M/M b. Cenn.; Harriet Johnson 10 F/M b. Conn.; Charles Hawley 5 M/M b. 
Conn." (US Bureau of the Census 1860a Roll 74, p.463 Dwelling '2055, 
Family #2:]0)" 
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of the children that were mentioried in the diary/account 
book was prior to this time, however. 

The diary/account book contained a detailed list dated 1875, 
of ,expens.~s of "Work on the House," from "Well Oiging [sic]" 
to brid:s, and "Sullar [sic] WOrk" (GHPet Response Appendix 
XI, 16). Many pages also include 1 Boy, or 2 boys connected 
with work in which William Sherman appeared to be directing 
the work (see pages 71 and 72 as examples). 

On page 81 of the William Sherman diary/account book: 

Jan 13 1876 Went to Bridgeport got money to Pay 
for house (GHPet Response Appendix XI, 81). 

Hurd reco~ded that amount to have been $800.00. It was 
borrowed from the money in the account set aside from the 
sale of Golden Hill lands in 1802 (Hurd 1881, 68). On 
January 22, 1876, William Sherman signed a usual note of 
mortgagE! for the use of this money, agreeing to pay interest 
semi-annually. The note was to the man who was overseeing 
the Golden Hill funds, Russell Tomlinson (Trumbull Land 
Records, 11:324). Three months prior to his death in 1876, 
William Sherman quit claimed the mortgaged land. The quit 
claim was in favor of "Rowland Lacey, Agent, of the Golden 
Hill tribe of Indians of the town of Bridgeport in the 
County of Fairfield and State aforesaid" (Trumbull Land 
Records, 12:659). The monetary consideration was recorded 
as one dollar and other valuable consideration, and was the 
same lard as "Mortgaged by me [William Sherman] to Russell 
Tomlinscn then Agent of the said Fund, dated Jan. 13th 1876 
•.. " (Trumbull Land Records, 12:659) (emphasis added). The 
wording of this deed was used in the decision of the 
Superior Court of Fairfield County, Connecticut in 1933 to 
establish that the land occupied by individual descendants 
of William Sherman should be designated as a Connecticut 
Indian Reservation. 

Connecticut had many Indians who were identified as such in 
state records and on Federal census returns .. Even though 
William Sherman was claimant to money in an account from 
Indian sources, he was not identified as Indian until 1870 
(U.S. Bureau of the Census 1870a, 223, Dw~lling #81, Family 
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#84).W He worked in the non-Indian community and voted 
(Trumbllil Town Records, 1871-1876) at a time when other 
Indians could vote only by special acts of the Connecticut 
Assembly (Act of 1872 and 1874 for Mohegans see General 
Statutes of the state of Connecticut 1875, 653; Act of 1876 
for Niantics see Public Acts Passed by the General Assembly 
1876, S3-·4). 

Though documents produced during his lifetime show only that 
William Sherman borrowed money from the- Golden Hill account 
(Hurd 1881, 789), he was also said to be an heir to the 
monies of the Golden Hill account. Orcutt claimed that 
Willian Sherman "was the only claimant to the Golden Hill 
monies" (Orcutt 1886, 43) (emphasis added). The Golden Hill 
tribe had been dispersed as a tribal entity many years 
before his birth. Socially and politically, Sherman did not 
identify as Indian. William Sherman" may have had Golden 
Hill Indian ancestry, although no adequate acceptable 
document~ation of that has been presented to BAR. Even if 
such ancestry had been demonstrated, Indian ancestry would 
not have qualified as an Indian tribe. At best, William 
Sherman may have been an individual Golden Hill heir. Few 
documents exist to show that William Sherman ever identified 
as Indian, Paugussett, or Golden Hill. 

SUCCESSIVE GENERATIONS 

The present-day Golden Hill membership is composed entirely 
of descendants of only two of William Sherman's nine 
chi Idre.:1. 31 Of those two, a daughter, Caroline, had only one 
daughter. The rest of the members descend from George 
Sherman, through the two of his three children who survived 
chtldhood, Ethel and Edward. An analysis of the makeup of 
the pre:;ent-day community shows that the present membership 
is actually a single family line, and only a part of that 
line. 

~T~e 1870 Microform copy of the 1870 Census showed a mark over 
the initial "Color" designation. BAR researchers requested and examined 
the original book of 1870 Census at the National Archives in Washington, 
DC. The ~riginal copy was as difficult to determine the "color" 
designati~n as the microform copy. The children were listed as "I", 
with the iTI01~her as "S", however. 

11 Cf the nine Children, six lived to adulthood. 
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SUCCESSIVE GENERATIONS 

WILLIAM SHERMAN 

I 
William, He ry Mason Geo 

Jr. (died (died 
young) young) 

I . . 
ge Mary Carol1 

Olive 
(died 
young) 

Fredekick waiter Edward Ethel 
(died 
young) 

Number c)f descendants 
in present Golden Hill 
group 19 

Ttital membership: 82 

57 
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SUMM1\RY AND CONCLUSIONS 

From 1802 to 1860; documentation concerning the Golden Hill 
heirs included guardian and overseer reports, General 
Asse_moly petitions, and one Connecticut Indian history book. 

In 1860, the Connecticut General Assembly wanted more 
documentation from the Indian overseers. They approved the 
follo\ving 

~hat the overseer of each tribe of Indians living 
\lithin the limits of this state, in addition to 
tlis report to the superior court, as now by law 
PJ:-ovided, shall file in the town clerk's office a 
copy of his report, so allowed by said court, in 
t_he town or towns in which such tribe statedly 
[-esides; and said duplicate shall be kept on file 
by said town clerk (GHPet Response Appendix IV, 
151). \ 

If, in fact, connecticut treated the Golden Hill heirs as a 
tribe, then logically, overseer reports should be found 
either in the Town Clerk's office in Trumbull or Bridgeport, 
and in the superior Court records after 1860. None were 
found by the petitioner, CHHH or BAR researchers. 

In 1872, an Act was passed to enable children of Indians to 
be indentured by the signature of two justices of the peace 
if those children were exposed to want, or if they lived in 
idlenE!ss (GHPet Response Appendix IV, 152). No evidence 
could .De found that this had happened to the children of 
William Sherman. Based on his own diary/account book, 
William Sherman appears to have voluntarily placed his own 
children with other families (GHPet Response, Appendix XI).D 
No documentation of signatures of any justic~s of the peace 
that would allow Indian children to be indentured were found 
in the case of the children of William Sherman. 

31 .. CilInE? home Sep 27, 1877. Huldy Went to Mrs. B [illegible) May 
25 [illegiblej."(p. 6); "Huldy Went to Peats Oct. 1, .1877"{p.9); "David 
Worner, Cc,ld spring, ct. Whare [sic] Gerge (sic) Lives. Went to Worners 
Apr 13 in 1871. Bill Went to Henry Wels's for 8 dollars Amonth (sic) 
April 17, 1871." (p.21) 
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In 1876, a special act was passed for the UGolden Hill 
Tribe ll enabling the overseer to use money set aside for the 
tribe or lands owned by the tribe for the use of members of 
the tribe that have become or may become paupers (Public 
Acts Pftssed by the General Assembly 1876, 102). The 
petitioner speculates that 

It does not seem likely that.the above statute was 
enacted specifically to allow the sale of the 
Quarter-acre Trumbull Reservation". Perhaps there 
were other lands or property of the tribe ... 
(GHPet Response Appendix VI, 50). 

There :s a more direct explanation for the passage of this 
act in 1876. Because Henry Pease had lost his hand, the 
Golden Hill funds were quickly dwindling due to the medical 
expenses incurred (Hurd 1881, 68). To protect the city of 
Trumbu~l should the Golden Hill money be entirely used, any 
property held in trust for heirs of the Golden Hill funds 
could be used to pay debts incurred. If the money held in 
the bank account for the Golden Hill heirs were to be 
depleted, the state would have been responsible for the 
expenses as state paupers. At the time of the Act, there 
was no reservation in Trumbull, but a loan for a barn had 
been issued to William Sherman (Hurd 1881, 68). As 
collateral for that loan, William Sherman deeded over his 
land to the person who would have been in charge of paupers 
and Indians (Trumbull Land Deed, 1876, Sherman to Lacey) . 
In 1823, the General Assembly had enacted a law giving the 
OVerSeE!r the right to sell property maintained by an Indian 
tribe to cover expenses of the group. 

Documents submitted by the petitioner and CHHH, and 
documents researched by BAR staff, do not prove a 
relatic,nship between William Sherman to Nancy Sharpe/Pease, 
althouqh they may imply one. Nancy Sharpe/Pease received 
funds and a home from the Golden Hill account, which listed 
her and Ruby Mansfield as the sole heirs of the Golden Hill 
monies in 1841. They were not the sole surviving heirs, as 
evidenced by the application of another heir for use of the 
Golden Hill fund (letter of smith Tweedy) and Hurd's book 
(Hurd 1881, 68). William Sherman's use of the Golden Hill 
monies did not prove that he was the son of Nancy, or the 
grandscn of Ruby or that he was in any way related to Eunice 
Shoran or Sarah Shoran, who were, from 1774, the 1I0nly 2 
persons [se~n] viz Eunice Shoran and Sary [sic] Shoran that 
were said to be [d)escendants from the Pequanock Indians" 
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(IP II, 149d). William Sherman's use of the Golden Hill 
monies may imply that during his lifetime, he was perceived 
by ce·ntemporar ies to be a Golden Hill heir. 

In addition, although Nancy Sharpe/Pease and Ruby Mansfield 
applied for funds together and were treated as heirs to the 
Golden Hill funds, there is no documented proof that Nancy 
Sharpe/Pease was the daughter of Ruby Mansfield. Further, 
althcugh Ruby Mansfield may have been.the same person as the 
Ruby Sherman whose name appeared on guardian rolls, and/or 
may te the same person as Ruby Mack, there are nonetheless, 
no dccuments to prove these assumptions. Although all of 
them used funds set aside for the heirs of the Golden Hill 
Indians, no documentation has been provided or found to show 
how they proved their entitlement. ThUS, no descent has been 
proven for Ruby or Nancy or William. 

Far more significantly, the petitioner has failed to prove a 
continuous connection between the Golden Hill heirs and the 
historic Paugussett tribe or any other Indian tribe. The 
tribal entity, be it Paugussett or Pequanok is immaterial, 
since from as early as 1765 there was only one family left. 
Throughout the remaining times, the people who descended 
from this remaining family were called Golden Hill heirs,. 
The Paugussett/Pequanock Tribe was in reality, scattered, 
dissolved and disbanded as early as 1765, when only one 
wigwam and one family remained. Their resiliency in 
petitioning the General Assembly for redress allows present­
day researchers at least some view into their lives. 
However, in the present context those petitions illustrate 
the absence of any entity which could be considered tribal. 

Connecticut enacted laws that stated "The overseer of each 
tribe of Indians shall, annually, state and settle his 
account of the concerns of such tribe, with the county 
court, in the county within which such tribe resides" 
(Statutes of Laws of Connecticut 1823 Title 50, 278-279). 
The "(juardians," "trustees," "agents" and "overseers" for 
the Golden Hill reported to the respective county courts 
only ''''hen it concerned intermi ttant land tr.ansactions. They 
settled their accounts in probate courts, and far less than 
annually. Records created by other Connecticut groups have 
survived and permit researchers to see the different way in 
which the state viewed the Golden Hill. Although the 
surviving documents for other Connecticui tribes skip one or 
two years, the almost complete absence of documents over 
decades sometimes distinguishes the Golden Hill group from 
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the Ccnnecticut Indian entities. (See Appendix A.) Without 
either a settlement or continuous documentation to show 
relationships among members in the 19th century, the Golden 
Hill heirs appear to be a small family of scattered 
individuals with some Indian descent. This family had few 
documented interactions with other Indians in connecticut 
(See Appendix C). 

Indian reservations were established and maintained for each 
of Connecticut's remaining Indian tribes in the early 
1800's, if not earlier. In the case of the Golden Hill, the 
five adults of the Golden Hill petitioned to sell the land. 
From the date of that sale in 1802, though the guardian 
provided for the needs of individuals out of funds from the 
interest earned on the money derived from the sale of the 
lands, no member of the Golden Hill" other than Eunice 
Sherman/Mack lived on Connecticut Trust land. 

In 1841, land was acquired for two persons as heirs of the 
Golden Hill monies. with few exceptions, no other 
Connecticut tribal entity referred to in the Indian Papers 
during the same period was actually a single individual. 
The majority of the other Connecticut groups petitioned as a 
group, or received land as a group. The Trust land upon 
which Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, and Ruby Mansfield lived 
for about 8 years, was not considered a reservation. This 
stands in sharp contrast to the treatment by the state of 
other Indian lands, which were called "reservations," and 
held in trust by the State for groups. 

Willia"n Sherman did not live on a reservation. The land 
which ~e purchased in 1876 was purchased by him as an 
individual. He then borrowed money on that land to build a 
house. The money he borrowed was from the account 
designated for the heirs of the Golden Hill. Later, he gave 
title to the land to the overseer to hold as collateral. He 
turned the property over to the man who subsequently became 
the last overseer. The overseer had not yet been appointed 
to the post at that time: there was no record that an 
overseer had served for some years. 

Thus, from 1803 until at least 1885, there was no 
"reservation": only individual persons using the interest on 
the money set aside for the heirs of Golden Hill. In 
reality, there was no reservation until 1933 when Ethel 
Sherman petitioned the Superior Court to designate the land 
that William Sherman had turned over to the last overseer as 
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a reserva.tion. So, unlike the other Connecticut groups who 
had maj.ntained a land base throughout the 19th and early 
20th cE!nturies, the Golden Hill individuals had no land 
base. 

The Golden Hill petitioners have failed to prove that their 
membership represents the continuation of a historic tribe. 
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of the 
la.nds 
once 
lived on 
by the 
heirs. 

1854 
Report of 
"Scata­
cook 
tribe of 
Indians" 
1859 
Superior 
Court in 
County: 
"Overseer 
of the 
Scatacook 
Tribe of 
Indians .. 
.of Kent" 
for years 
of 
1858/9. 

59 

1855 
County 
Court, 
overseer 
appoint­
ed . 
Tribal 
member 
signa­
ture 
1854-60 
Overseer 
reports 
1856 
Report 
on sale 
of 
"Pequot 
Indian" 
Land" 
1856 
petition 
of 
member 

·to be 
listed 
on 
Pequot 
roll 
(Super­
ior 
Court in 
County) 
~856; 

members 
Inven­
tory of 
holdings 
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1860-
1869 

'·DEN 

18 
La 
de 
on 

LL 

62 
nd 
eds 
ly 

E. PEc;...:JOT 

1865-70 
Overseer 
report (sJ 
of "Pequot 
Tribe of 
North 
Stoning-
ton" 
reported 
to 
Superior 
Court in 
County of 
New 
London. 
1869 
gives 
list of 
tribal 
members. 
Also 
deposited 
with Town 
Clerk. 

SCHAGHTI-
COKE 

1861-69 
"Scata-
cook 
Indians 
Report(s) 
of the 
Overseer" 

60 
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MOHEGAN 

I 

/ 

W. 
PEQUOT 

1861: 
Allot-
ment of 
Mohegan 
reserva-
tion by 
overseer 
cornrnis- .. 
sion; 
new 
"Over-
seer of 
the 
Pequot 
Tribe of 
Indians" 
(Super-
ior 
Court, 
New 
Haven 
county) 
Overseer 
reports: 
1860-
1868. 

/ 
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1870-
1879 

)LDEN 
[LL 

no 
re ports. 
Hi stor-
ia n says 
:9a id for 
,=X penses 
'Jf Henry 
[Je ase. 
Go ans 
mo ne" to 
1,oJi lliam 
.3h Jrman 
Eo r 
;10 use. 

E. ~~QUOT SCHAGBTI-
COKE 

1870-5 1870 
"Overseer "Scata-
report[sj cook 
of the Indians 
Pequot Report of 
Tribe of the 
Indians Overseer" 
of North 
Stoning-
ton" 
filed 
with Town I 
Clerk and 
Superior I 

Court of I 
County of 
New 
London. 
1874 
petition 
Superior 
court not 
to sell 
their 
lands, 
signed by 
29 tribal 
members. 

61 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement 

MOHEGA.N W. 
PEQUOT 

. 
1871 1870 
Private "Over-
funds seer of 
deposited said 
in bank Tribe" 
for lists 
"benefit names of 
of the Pequot 11 

Mohegan Indians, 
tribe of L_.:1yard 
Indians." Trib'"' 
Trustee Overseer 
is trib-'11 Re~orts 

member. 1871.175 
Spe - .al 
Act, 
187:S 
"over-
seer of 
said 
Pequot 
tribe of 
in-
dians." 
1872 
granted 
citizert-
shiy. 
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1889 

~DEN 

~L 

lorts. 
No 
:LE!f: 
t:.a.k 
la.n 
col 
lat 
for 
loa 

:es 
.d as 
-
eral 

n. 

1990- not hing. 
i.899 

I!====:::=!'=====-

E. PEQUOT SCHAGHTI- MOHEGAN 
COKE 

1881 ],.881-1884 
"Report "Report 
of of 
Overseer Overseer 
of Pequot of 
listing Schati-
tribal coke 
members. Indians" 

1890-91 
Overseer 
report of 
"Pequot 
Tribe of 
North 
Stoning-
ton" 
1891 
lists 
members 
of tribe. 

W. 
PEQUOT 

1886-87 
Overseer 
Report 
listed 
expendi-
ture by 
tribal 
member 
1884 
Overseer 
Report 
listing 
tribal 
members 

1890-91 
Overseer 
report: 
"Ledyard 
Tribe of 
Indians" 

Some petition1ers used other than overseer reports to fill in the 
time gaps. This chart uses only the Overseer reports filed with 

. the peti ~.ors, '-'~ specie ~ peL .L,.Jns made by the groups. 
Information was taken from petl.tions of Connecticut groups in 

.files of Branch of Acknowledgment and Research (BAR). 

62 

.. 
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